THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Improved

Optical Position Sensing

by

Ian C. Williamson

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL & COMPUTER

ENGINEERING

CALGARY, ALBERTA

AUGUST, 1992

© Ian C. Williamson 1992



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Otława, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has aranted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, sell distribute or copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette disposition thèse à la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-79109-8



WILLIAMSON AN

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

5 ELECTRICAL JAINEERING LECTRONICS SUBJECT TERM



Subject Categories

Name

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS

Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
lournalism	0391
library Science	0399
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

EDUCATION

and arriver.	
General	.0515
Administration	.0514
Adult and Continuina	.0516
Agricultural	0517
Δrt	0273
Bilingual and Multicultural	0282
Business	0285
Community Collogo	0275
Currieulum and Instruction	0727
Correction and instruction	0/2/
Early Childhood	.0510
Elementary	.0524
Finance	.02//
Guidance and Counseling	.0519
Health	.0680
Higher	.0745
History of	.0520
Home Economics	0278
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	0279
Mathematics	ີ ດ້ວິຊຸດ
Municipalities	0522
MUSIC	.0322
Philosophy or	.0770
Physical	.0323

Psychology Religious 0527 Sciences 0714 Secondary 0533 0533

LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

Language General	0679
Ancient	0289
Linquistics	0290
Modern	0291
literature	
General	0401
Classical	0294
Comparative	0205
Modioval	0207
Modera	0209
African	0216
	.0310
American	0205
Asian	.0305
Canadian (English)	.0352
Canadian (French)	.0355
English	.0593
Germanic	.0311
Latin American	.0312
Middle Eastern	.0315
Romance	.0313
Slavic and East European	.0314
•	

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

0425

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Agriculture
General0473
Aaronomy
Animal Culture and
Nutrition 0475
Animal Pathology 0476
Food Science and
Tashaalaan 0250
Final Activity 000
Forestry and whalle
Plant Culture
Plant Pathology0480
Plant Physiology
Range Management 0777
Wood Technology0746
Biology
Géneral0306
Anatomy0287
Biostatistics
Botany
Cel
Ecology 0329
Entomology 0353
Genetics 0369
Limpology 0793
Microbiology 0410
Molecular 0307
Neuroscience 0317
Ocognography 0416
Physiology 0433
Production 0433
Kadiation
Veterinary Science
20010gy
biophysics
General
Medical0760
FARTH SCIENCES

Biogeochemistry

Seolegy Geophysics Hydrology Paleobotany Paleobotany Paleocology Paleonology Paleozoology Paleozoology Paleozoology Physical Geography Physical Geography	0372 0373 0388 0411 0345 0426 0418 0985 0427 0368 0415
HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL	
SCIENCES	07/0
Environmental Sciences	0/08
General	0566
Audiology	0300
Chemotherapy	0992
Dentistry	0567
Education	0350
Hospital Management	0/69
Human Development	0/38
Immunology	0782
Medicine and Surgery	0347
Nursing	0540
Nutrition	0570
Obstetrics and Gynecology	0380
Occupational Health and	0000
Therapy	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	0571
Pharmacology	0419
Pharmacy	0572
Physical Therapy	0382
Public Health	05/3
Kadiology	05/4

Recreation0575

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

THEOLOGY	
Philosophy	0422
Religion	
General	0318
Biblical Studies	0321
Clergy	0319
Philosophy of	0320
Theology	0469
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	0323
Anthropology	000 (
Archaeology	0324
Cultural	0320
Business Administration	032/
General	0310
Accounting	0272
Banking	0770
Management	0454
Marketing	0338
Canadian Studies	0385
Conomics	0501
Agricultural	0503
Commerce-Business	0505
Finance	0508
History	0509
Labor	0510
Theory	0511
Folklore	0358
Geography	0351
History	
General	0578

Ancient	05/9
Medieval	0581
Modern	0582
Black	0328
African	0331
Asia, Australia and Oceania	0332
Canadian	0334
Furopean	0335
Latin American	0336
Middle Fastern	0333
United States	0337
listony of Science	0584
aw	0202
olitical Science	
General	0614
International Law and	
Palations	0614
Public Administration	0617
locroction	
acial Work	0452
	.0452
General	0624
Criminology and Popology	0627
Demography	002/
Ethnic and Pacial Studios	0/30
Individual and Family	.0051
Studios	0420
Industrial and Labor	.0020
Polationa	0420
Dublic and Seriel Malfana	0027
Fublic and Social Weirare	.0030
Social Structure and	0700
Development	0700
Ineory and Methods	0344
ransportation	.0705
rban ana kegional Planning	0995
	11/1 11 1

Speech Patholoay	0460
Toxicology	0383
Home Economics	0386

PHYSICAL SCIENCES

Pure Sciences

0270

Chemistry	
General	0485
Agricultural	0749
Analytical	0486
Biochemistry	0487
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	0738
Organic	0490
Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	0495
Radiation	07.54
Mathematics	0405
Physics	
General	0605
Acoustics	0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics	0606
Atmospheric Science	0608
Atomic	0748
Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	0610
Optics	0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	.0611
Statistics	.0463
Applied Sciences	
Applied Mechanics	0346
Computer Science	00040
composer ocience	0704

Engineering General 0537 Aerospace Agricultural Automotive Biomedical 0538 0540 0541 Biomedical U241 Chemical 0542 Civil 0543 Electronics and Electrical 0544 Heat and Thermodynamics 0348 Hydraulic 0545 Industrial 0546 Magna 0547 Marine Materials Science 0794 Mechanical Metallurgy 0548 0743 Mining 0551 Nucleār Packaging Petroleum Sanitary and Municipal System Science Geotechnology Operations Research Plastics Technology Textile Technology Nuclear 0552 0.549 0765 0554 0790 0428 0796 0795

PSYCHOLOGY

General	
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	0622
Developmental	0620
Experimental	
Industrial	0624
Personality	0625
Physiological	0989
Psychobiology	0349
Psychometrics	0632
Sócial	045

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

CODE DE SUJET

Catégories par sujets

HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES

COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS

Architecture	0729
Beaux-arts	0357
Bibliothéconomie	0399
Cinéma	0900
Communication verbale	0459
Communications	0708
Danse	0378
Histoire de l'art	0377
lournalisme	0391
Musique	0413
Sciences de l'information	0723
Théôtre	0465

ÉDUCATION

Généralités	SI	10
Administration	.051	4
Art	.027	73
Collèges communautaires	.027	75
Commerce	.068	38
Économie domestique	.027	78
Éducation permanente	.051	16
Éducation préscolaire	.051	8
Éducation sanitaire	.068	30
Enseignement garicole	.051	17
Enseignement bilingue et		
multiculturel	.028	32
Enseignement industriel	.052	21
Enseignement primaire.	.052	24
Enseignement professionnel	.074	47
Enseignement religieux	.052	27
Enseignement secondaire	.053	33
Enseignement spécial	.052	29
Enseignement supérieur	.074	45
Évaluation	.028	38
Finances	.027	77
Formation des enseignants	.053	ЗĊ
Histoire de l'éducation	.05	20
Langues et littérature	.027	79

.0525 Technologie 0710

LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE

La

Langues	
Généralités	0679
Anciennes	.0289
Linguistique	0290
Modernes	.0291
littérature	
Généralités	.0401
Anciennes	0294
Comparée	0295
Mediévale	0297
Moderne	0298
Africaine	0316
Américaine	0591
Andrico	0503
Aciationo	0305
Canadianna (Analaica)	0352
Canadianna (Francaisa)	0255
Canadienne (Française)	.0300
Germanique	.0311
Latino-americaine	.0312
Moyen-orientale	.0313
Romane	
Slave et est-européenne	0314

PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET

I HEOLOGIE Philosophia	0422
Religion	0422
Généralités	0318
Cleraé	0319
Études bibliques	0321
Histoire des religions	0320
Philosophie de la reliaion	0322
Théologie	0469

SCIENCES SOCIALES

Anthropologie	
Archéologie 032	4
Culturelle	6
Dhurique 032	ž
D14 020	6
Proir	0
Economie	
Généralités	1
Commerce-Attaires	5
Économie agricole	3
Économie du travail	0
Finances 050	8
Histoire 050	ŏ
Théorie 050	'n
Étudas emérications	5
ciudes americaines	5
Fludes canadiennes	5
Etudes feministes	3
Folklore	8
Géographie	6
Gérontologie	1
Gestion des affaires	
Généralités	0
Administration 045	Ā
Banques 077	'n
Comptabilité 027	ň
Marlatian 022	ő
Markening	0
riisioire	~
Histoire générale	8

Européenne 0335 Moyen-orientale 0333 Latino-américaine 0333 Asie, Australie et Océanie 0332 Histoire des sciences 0585

SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES

Agriculture

Agriculture	
Généralités	.0473
Agronomie.	.0285
Alimentation et technologie	
alimentaire	0350
Culture	0470
	0477
clevage er alimentation	.04/3
Exploitation des péturages	.0///
Pathologie animale	.0476
Pathologie végétale	,0480
Physiologie végétale	.0817
Sylviculture et faune	.0478
Technologie du hois	0746
Biologie	
Généralités	0306
Anglemia	0287
Dielegie (Statistiques)	0200
Biologie (Sidisiques)	0300
biologie moleculaire	.030/
Bolauidne	0309
Cellule	.03/9
Ecologie	.0329
Entomologie	.0353
Génétique	.0369
Limnologie	.0793
Microbiologie	.0410
Neurologie	.0317
Océanographie	.0416
Physiologie	0433
Padiation	0821
Scionco vátóringiro	0778
Zeologio	0//0
Diaglogie	.04/2
Diophysique	0704
Generalites	.0700
Medicale	.0760

SCIENCES DE LA TERRE

Biogeochimie	0425
Géochimie	0996
Géodésie	0370
Géographie physique	0368

Géologie	0372
Géophysique	0373
Hydrologie	0388
Minéralogie	0411
Océanographie physique	0415
Paléobotaniaue	0345
Paléoécologie	0426
Paléontologie	0418
Paléozoologie	0985
Palvnologie	0427

SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT Éc

Sc Sc

onomie domestique ences de l'environnement	.0386 .0768
ences de la santé Généralités Administration des hipitaux. Alimentation et nutrition Audiologie Chimiothérapie Dentisterie Développement humain Enseignement Immundecie	.0566 .0769 .0570 .0300 .0992 .0567 .0758 .0350
Loisirs Médecine du travail et thérapie	.0575
Obstétrique et gynécologie Ophtalmologie Orthophonie	0380
Pharmacie Pharmacologie Physiothérapie Radiologie	0572
Sonté publique Soins infirmiers Toxicologie	.0573 .0569 .0383

SCIENCES PHYSIQUES

Sciences Pures	
Chimie	
Genéralités	0485
Biochimie	487
Chimie agricole	0749
Chimie analytique	0486
Chimie minérale	0488
Chimie nucléaire	0738
Chimie organique	0490
Chimie pharmaceutique	0491
Physique	0494
PolymCres	0495
Radiation	0754
Mathématiques	0405
Physique	•
Généralités	0605
Acoustique	0986
Astronomie et	
astrophysique	0606
Electronique et électricité	0607
Fluides et plasma	0759
Météorologie	0608
Ontique	0752
Particules (Physique	
nuclégire	0798
Physique atomique	0748
Physique de l'état solide	0611
Physique moléculaire	0609
Physique nuclégire	0610
Radiation	0756
Statistiques	0463
	0400
Sciences Appliqués Et	
Technologie	
Informatique	0984
Ingénierie	
Généralités	0537
Agricole	0539
Automobile	0540

Biomédicale	.0541
Chaleur et ther	
modynamique	.0348
Conditionnement	
_ (Emballage)	.0549
Génie aérospatial	.0538
Génie chimique	.0542
Génie civil	.0543
Génie électronique et	
électrique	.0544
Génie industriel	.0546
Génie mécanique	0548
Génie nuclégire	0552
Ingénierie des systämes	0790
Mécanique navale	0547
Métallurgie	0743
Science des matériaux	0794
Technique du pétrole	0765
Technique minière	0551
Techniques sonitaires et	.0001
municipalos	0554
Tachaologia hydrauliaua	0545
Méganiaus appliqués	0343
Céstada al a sia	0340
Georechnologie	.0420
Matteres plastiques	0705
(Technologie)	.0/93
Recherche operationnelle	.0/96
Textiles et tissus (Technologie)	.0794
PSYCHOLOGIE	
	0421
Demeralité	0425
rersonnalite	.0020

Ge

Œ

THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommended to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled, "Improved Optical Position Sensing" submitted by Ian C. Williamson in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Supervisor, Dr. J.W. Haslett, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. F.N. Trofimenkoff, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

BNOWROWZEON

Dr. B. Nowrouzian, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. (J.S. Murphree, Department of Physics and Astronomy

Date ling. 31/9=

Abstract

This thesis is presented in three distinct sections each of which relates to the recently developed optical position sensor in a separate way. A solution to the observed reduction in full scale position sensor output with large standard deviation light sources is presented. This solution will ensure that the position sensor static output signal will remain nearly identical regardless of the width of the incident light source.

A fully commercial part version of the position sensor is also presented. This design is ideal for lower cost position sensors in that it requires no custom VLSI components.

The position sensor is also applied to the application of long exposure telescopic astrophotography. This design was created to perform tracking corrections to telescope guidance systems through a feedback arrangement.

It is hoped that this research will further the understanding and use of the optical position sensor.

Acknowledgments

I am greatly indebted to Dr. J.W. Haslett for all his help with both the research contained in and the production of this thesis. He often gave me simple advice which put me back on track when times were tough.

I am also grateful to the Alberta Microelectronic Centre and the Canadian Microelectronics Corporation for their financial support and technical assistance, respectively, without which this work could never have been completed.

I would also like to thank Robert Condon of the Department of Physics and Astronomy for help with the telescope tracking system and access to the Astrophysics Department's telescope equipment.

Table of Contents

Chapter 3

A Serial Position Sensor	59
3.1 Reasons	59
3.2 The EG&G Reticon RA1662N	60
3.3 Theory	66
3.4 A Practical Realization	68
3.4.1 Input Mirrors	68
3.4.2 Reference Voltage Generation	70
3.4.3 Multiplication and Integration	71
3.4.4 Output Signal Processing	74
3.5 Testing and Results	76
3.5.1 The Input Section	78
3.5.2 Multiplication	80
3.5.3 Integration	83
3.5.4 Signal Output	85
3.6 Conclusions	87
	07
Chapter 4	
A Telescope Tracking Circuit	88
4.1 The Optical System	91
4.2 Input Amplification and Calibration	08
4.3 Frequency Control Voltage Production	101
4 4 Voltage to Frequency Conversion	101
4.5 Drive Motor Control	1107
4.6 Testing and Results	110
4.6.1 Input Amplification and Calibration	112
4.6.2 Dampened Space Circuit	117
4.6.2 Voltage to Frequency Conversion	114
4.6.4 Overall Europianality	114
4.0.4 Overall Functionality	115
	110
Pibliography	1 1 77
	11/
Annandices	110
Appendices,	119
Appendix A - The CA5280 Linearized OTA	119
A.1 The Basic Circuit	119
A.2 The linearization Process	120
A.3 A Non-Ideal Equivalent Circuit	124
Appendix B - Effects of Overdriven LOTA Multipliers	126

List of Tables

Table 2.1 - Input section transistor sizes (W/L in microns)	32
Table 2.2 - Switching section transistor sizes (W/L in microns)	34
Table 2.3 - Output section transistor sizes (W/L in microns)	38
Table 4.1 - Stellar magnitude and expected image flux and current values	97

List of Figures

١

n.

Page
Figure 1.1 - A continuous distribution of mass
Figure 1.2 - A sample distribution of particle masses
Figure 1.3 - Block diagram of the existing basic position sensor [3] 6
Figure 1.4 - Typical gaussian model of a light source intensity profile 9
Figure 1.5 - Theoretical centroid position as a function of peak position 11
Figure 1.6 - Unchanging portion of light distributions
Figure 1.7 - A practical realization of figure 1.3
Figure 1.8 - Simplified Linearized Operational Transconductance Amplifier 15
Figure 2.1 - Light being lost off the edges of the array
Figure 2.2 - Typical light profiles with varying standard deviations
Figure 2.3 - A truncated gaussian distribution
Figure 2.4 - Static transfer response when lower end current is removed 26
Figure 2.5 - Block diagram of correction circuitry
Figure 2.6 - The input section
Figure 2.7 - The switching section
Figure 2.8 - The output section
Figure 2.9 - The effect of cascode mirror output voltage on mirror output current.
$(\Delta V = V_{LOWER} - V_t)$
Figure 2.10 - The layout of the input section (1.50 microns/mm) 40
Figure 2.11 - The layout of the output section (1.50 micron/mm)

Figure 2.12 - The layout of the switching section (0.5 micron/mm) 41
Figure 2.13 - The full circuit (5 micron/mm)
Figure 2.14 - The complete layout (33.3 micron/mm)
Figure 2.15 - Simulated and measured upper cascode gate voltages
Figure 2.16 - Simulated and measured lower cascode gate voltages
Figure 2.17 - Simulated and measured data for I_{out1} and I_{out14} as a function of
I _{in1}
Figure 2.18 - Typical variation in $I_{out(n)}$ as a function of I_{in1}
Figure 2.19 - Measured static response when upper current is removed 48
Figure 2.20 - Measured uncorrected position sensor static response
Figure 2.21 - Measured corrected position sensor static response
Figure 2.22 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response
(StdDev=0.25)
Figure 2.23 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response
(StdDev=0.30)
Figure 2.24 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response
(StdDev=0.40)
Figure 2.25 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response
(StdDev=0.50)
Figure 2.26 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response
(StdDev=0.75) 53

,

Figure 2.27 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response		
(StdDev=1.00)	54	
Figure 2.28 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response		
(StdDev=2.00)	54	
Figure 2.29 - Corrected data with theory incorporating 8% current loss		
(StdDev=1.00)	55	
Figure 2.30 - Corrected data with theory incorporating 8% current loss		
(StdDev=2.00)	55	
Figure 2.31 - Input circuit to solve V _T matching problems	57	
Figure 2.32 - A simple dynamic current mirror.	58	
Figure 3.1 - Simple cell circuitry in each EG&G Reticon RA1662N photocell	60	
Figure 3.2 - Internal RA1662N connections.	61	
Figure 3.3 - Typical spectral response of the RA1662N photodiode array		
Figure 3.4 - Typical curves of output voltage versus exposure		
Figure 3.5 - Timing of RA1662N End of Scan and Video signals		
Figure 3.6 - The timing of a two tiered clocking system for the RA1662N	65	
Figure 3.7 - Block diagram of a simple serial position sensor.	67	
Figure 3.8 - The serial input mirrors	69	
Figure 3.9 - Serial position sensor output processing circuitry		
Figure 3.10 - Effect of light source standard deviation on serial position sensor		
output.	75	
Figure 3.11 - Effect of large offset currents (I_{off}) as percentage of signal peak	75	

х́

·

· .

Figure 3.12 - Intensity profile of light source A.	77
Figure 3.13 - Intensity profile of light source B	77
Figure 3.14 - Intensity profile of light source C	78
Figure 3.15 - Theoretical and measured input section output currents.	79
Figure 3.16 - Theoretical and measured input mirror error currents.	80
Figure 3.17 - Multiplier output error from source A	81
Figure 3.18 - Multiplier output error from source B	82
Figure 3.19 - Theoretical and measured multiplier output from source A	82
Figure 3.20 - Theoretical and measured multiplier output from source B	83
Figure 3.21 - Uniform illumination capacitor charging curves	84
Figure 3.22 - Capacitor charging curves when illumination is a gaussian	
source	84
Figure 3.23 - Position sensor static response to source A	85
Figure 3.24 - Position sensor static response to source B	
A igure 5.24 I Osition sensor state response to source D.	86
Figure 3.25 Position sensor static response to source C.	86 86
Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source C. Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system.	86 86 90
Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source C. Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system. Figure 4.2 - Beam splitter based optical system.	86 86 90 92
Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source C. Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system. Figure 4.2 - Beam splitter based optical system. Figure 4.3 - Off axis splitter based optical system.	 86 90 92 92 92
Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source C. Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system. Figure 4.2 - Beam splitter based optical system. Figure 4.3 - Off axis splitter based optical system. Figure 4.4 - Typical plot of percentage atmospheric transmission.	 86 86 90 92 92 94
Figure 3.25 Position sensor static response to source C. Figure 4.1 A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system. Figure 4.2 Beam splitter based optical system. Figure 4.3 Off axis splitter based optical system. Figure 4.4 Typical plot of percentage atmospheric transmission. Figure 4.5 Typical telescope percentage reflectances and transmittances.	 86 86 90 92 92 94 96
Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source D. Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system. Figure 4.2 - Beam splitter based optical system. Figure 4.3 - Off axis splitter based optical system. Figure 4.4 - Typical plot of percentage atmospheric transmission. Figure 4.5 - Typical telescope percentage reflectances and transmittances. Figure 4.6 - Eyepiece amplification section of the tracking system.	 86 86 90 92 92 92 94 96 98

Figure 4.8 - Dampened space circuit typical static response.	102
Figure 4.9 - The block diagram of a dampened response circuit	103
Figure 4.10 - Schematic of a dampened space circuit.	104
Figure 4.11 - Precision rectifier #1's static response	105
Figure 4.12 - Precision rectifier #2's static response	105
Figure 4.13 - Addition of the precision rectifiers' output and inverted V_{cal}	107
Figure 4.14 - Plot of the theoretical voltage to frequency response	108
Figure 4.15 - Voltage to frequency convertor.	109
Figure 4.16 - The resulting motor driving signals CLK and CLKNOT	110
Figure 4.17 - Motor control.	111
Figure 4.18 - The motor driving voltage signal.	112
Figure 4.19 - Theoretical and measured static response of the dampened space	
circuit.	114
Figure 4.20 - Measured and theoretical voltage to frequency conversion	115
Figure A.1 - A Simplified Linearized OTA	120
Figure A.2 - Typical Differential Input Voltage	122
Figure A.3 - Typical DC Input Currents as a Function of I_L	124
Figure A.4 - A Full Non-ideal LOTA Model Incorporating an Ideal CA3280	125
Figure B.1 - Saturating LOTA multiplier expected and actual current output	127
Figure B.2 - Effect of $K(V^+-V^-)=4$ on LOTA based OPS output.	128

List of Symbols

X _{centre}	Centroid position (arbitrary units)
M(x)	Mass function (arbitrary units)
Ν	Number of detectors in an array
n	Detector number
I _{photo}	Photocurrent (amperes)
P _{opt}	Optical power (watts)
η	Quantum efficiency (unitless)
q	Electronic charge (coulombs)
h	Planck's constant
f	frequency (Hertz)
V _{in}	Input voltage (volts)
V _{out}	Output voltage (volts)
τ	Time constant (seconds)
I _{pmax}	Maximum photocurrent in a gaussian distribution (amperes)
μ	Mean position of a gaussian distribution
σ	Standard deviation
V _{REF}	Position sensor reference voltage (volts)
I _{in}	Input current (amperes)
I _{out}	Output current (amperes)
I _B	Transconductance amplifier bias current (amperes)

I_L	Transconductance amplifier linearization current (amperes)
I _{HE} .	Highest end of array current (amperes)
I _{LE}	Lowest end of array current (amperes)
V _{DS}	MOS transistor drain to source voltage (volts)
V _{GS}	MOS transistor gate to source voltage (volts)
V _{SB}	MOS transistor source to bulk voltage (volts)
V _T	MOS transistor threshold voltage (volts)
V _{TO}	Unmodulated MOS threshold voltage (volts)
V _{UPPER}	Upper cascode mirror gate voltage (volts)
V _{LOWER}	Lower cascode mirror gate voltage (volts)
β	MOS transistor transconductance (amperes/volt ²)
L ·	MOS transistor gate length (meters)
W	MOS transistor gate width (meters)
V _{DD}	Positive power supply voltage (volts)
V _{SS}	Negative power supply voltage (volts)
I _{DO}	MOS transistor "saturation" current (amperes)
γ	MOS transistor body effect factor (\sqrt{volts})
2ф	MOS transistor surface inversion potential (volts)
G	Gain factor (unitless)
К	Gain factor (unitless)
V _{array}	Biasing voltage (volts)
λ	Light wavelength (meters)

Speed of light (meters/second)
Semiconductor energy band gap (electron volts)
Clock period (seconds)
The thermal voltage kT/q (volts)
Boltzmann's constant (electron volts/degree kelvin)
Optical flux (watts/cm ²)

Chapter 1

The Basic Position Sensor

1.1 Introduction

Perhaps one of the most difficult aspects of electronics is the interfacing of an electronic circuit to some "real world" stimulus while maintaining a certain level of accuracy. The stimulus may be almost anything that can be perceived by the five senses, such as the human voice, temperature, or in our case the movement of a spot of light.

The precise aspect of the spot of light that we are concerned with in this thesis is the instantaneous position of its image. In an ideal system, we would like to remove the effects of all other variables inherent to the spot of light, such as its intensity and size, and produce some measure of the position of the centre of its light profile while maintaining accuracy and circuit simplicity.

The first and most obvious solution to this design problem would be to move as

quickly as possible into the digital domain by using a charge coupled device (CCD) imager as the photoreceptor, an analogue to digital converter (ADC) to perform the domain conversion and a powerful microprocessor to determine the image position. However, this method has its problems. Firstly, the support hardware for CCD imagers including clock generation, power supplies and low noise amplifiers greatly reduces the circuit simplicity. Secondly, accuracy is reduced in the process of conversion of the CCD video signal to digital form. In order to maintain sufficient accuracy, a large number of digital bits must be used, requiring even more support circuitry. Furthermore, the processor handling the calculation of the light position must be able to handle the large amounts of data at a very fast rate in order to maintain approximately continuous position information updates.

Quick calculations using a suitable microprocessor such as the Intel 80C196KB [1] which has its own built in analogue to digital (ADC) and digital to analogue (DAC) converters and simple support circuitry reveal that, even when running at 12 MHz, only 3263 pixels may be processed per second. For a CCD array such as the English-Electric P8600 [2] that contains 576 lines of 385 pixels each, the position information may only be updated every 67 seconds (Using only 10 bits to describe the input video signal)! The update time could probably be reduced and accuracy increased by several orders of magnitude by using a faster, more sophisticated microprocessor with external data conversion circuits, but, again, this will add circuit complexity, and still not achieve continuous operation.

The solution to these problems can be realized by remaining in the analogue

domain. Here, it is possible to achieve continuous output signal updates with relatively simple low power circuitry.

1.2 Mechanical Centroid Definition

A basic analogue optical position sensing system has been developed in recent years [3]. This system borrows from the mechanical engineering concept of the centroid which describes an object's centre of balance as the point at which the sum of all moments is zero.



Figure 1.1 - A continuous distribution of mass.

By using Fig. 1.1 as a reference and dealing only in one dimension,

$$\int_{X_0}^{X_1} (X_{centre} - x) \cdot M(x) \, dx = 0 \tag{1.2.1}$$

where X_{centre} is the position of the centroid, X_0 and X_1 are the limits of the object, and M(x) is the mass at position x, with all distances measured from the same arbitrary origin.

If a complete object is taken to be made up of discrete particles, Eqn. (1.2.1) will become

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} (X_{centre} - X_n) \cdot M_n = 0$$
 (1.2.2)

where N is the total number of particles, M_n is particle n's mass and X_n is the distance from some arbitrary origin to particle n. If this equation is then solved for X_{centre} ,

$$X_{centre} = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} X_n \cdot M_n}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} M_n}$$
(1.2.3)

results.



Figure 1.2 - A sample distribution of particle masses.

By way of a simple example, if the system shown in Fig. 1.2 is used as a reference, with the support weight being neglected, the centroid, or centre of balance, for

the complete object can be calculated by using Eqn. (1.2.3) and results in

$$X_{centre} = \frac{X_1 M_1 + X_2 M_2 + X_3 M_3}{M_1 + M_2 + M_3}$$
(1.2.4)

which is seen to be simply a weighted average position with N=3.

1.3 Electro-Optical Centroid

The block diagram shown in Fig. 1.3 depicts a one dimensional rendition of the previously mentioned optical position sensor (OPS) created by Gonnasson et al [3]. The simplicity of the circuit, as well as it's ability to reject most non-idealities in the active components are its primary merits.

The operation of the circuit is very straight forward. The magnitude of the photocurrents flowing from each photosensor will be linearly dependent on the light exposure of the photosensor in question. In particular, parasitic phototransistors are used because of their inherent current gain. The photocurrent which results can be expressed as

$$I_{photo(n)} = \frac{G_T A \eta q P_{opt(n)}}{h f}$$
(1.3.1)

where G_T is transistor gain, η is the phototransistor's quantum efficiency (typically about 50%), A is the area of the photodetector, q is the electronic charge, $P_{opt(n)}$ is the light flux incident on detector n, h is Planck's constant, and f is the frequency of the incident



Figure 1.3 - Block diagram of the existing basic position sensor [3].

light. The response of such a phototransistor is typically $2nA/\mu W/cm^2$ for white light for the Northern Telecom CMOS3DLM process with no special processing [3].

The linearly varying reference chain voltages $V_{(1)}$ through $V_{(N)}$ represent the position of the associated photodetectors and the differential voltage between these references and the centroid output voltage provides a weighting for the related photocurrents. The weighted photocurrents are then summed on a capacitor and through negative feedback, the sum of these weighted currents will be reduced to zero.

Ideally, and under these static conditions

$$\sum I = K \cdot \sum_{n=1}^{N} I_{photo(n)} \cdot (V(n) - V_{out}) = 0$$
(1.3.2)

where K is the multiplier gain coefficient (assumed to be equal for all multipliers) and N is the total number of sensors in the system. Solving (1.3.2) for V_{out} results in

$$V_{out} = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} I_{photo(n)} \cdot V(n)}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} I_{photo(n)}}$$
(1.3.3)

which can be seen to be analogous to (1.2.3) and thus V_{out} is a measure of the centroid position of the light incident on the photosensors.

To complete the analogy with the mechanical centroid, the photocurrents flowing from the photosensors can be thought of as discrete masses at the position referenced by a particular photosensor's reference voltage. The arbitrary origin from which these reference positions are measured (and hence where the centroid is measured) is entirely controlled by the voltages at the ends of the resistor chain. Typically the voltages at the ends of the reference chain are equal but of opposite sign so that the origin lies at the centre of the array of photosensors.

Since this system is based on negative feedback, it will require some amount of settling time. To get a measure of this settling time, measurements were made of the step response of the circuit [3]. These measurements revealed that the response was

exponential, with a time constant

$$\tau = \frac{C}{K \sum_{n=1}^{N} I_{photo(n)}}$$
(1.3.4)

which can be seen to be inversely proportional to the intensity of the incident light source. In practice, the size of the output capacitor, C, may be reduced so that this response is very rapid for most reasonable light intensities.

1.4 Light Sources

It is important to have a model of light sources so that theoretical evaluations can be carried out. The model used throughout this thesis arises from the fact that point light sources are usually not exactly that. They have some distribution which, under sufficient magnification perhaps, will reveal them to be diffused spots, or to have fuzzy edges. It has been found that most of these light sources have intensity profile distributions which may be modeled quite accurately by gaussian curves. In this way, a light source's continuous intensity profile can be described by

$$I_{photo}(X) = I_{pmax} \cdot e^{-\frac{(X - \mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}}$$
(1.4.1)

where σ is the standard deviation of the source (normalized to the width of the position sensor's photoarray) and μ is the centre of the distribution or "peak" where I_{photo} is at a



Figure 1.4 - Typical gaussian model of a light source intensity profile.

maximum (I_{pmax}) as shown in Fig. 1.4. Here, Intensity is normalized to I_{pmax} and position is normalized to the width of the detector array in the figure. Note that both μ and X are measured from the same arbitrary origin in the figure.

1.5 Theoretical Response

The voltages along the resistor chain previously shown in Fig. 1.3 can be described by

$$V(n) = \frac{V_{REF} \cdot n}{(N-1)}$$
(1.5.1)

where $\pm V_{REF}$ are as shown in the figure; equal but of opposite sign.

When Eqns. (1.3.3), (1.4.1) and (1.5.1) are combined, and if X=0 is taken to be the centre of the array, the equation describing the output voltage takes the form

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} n/(N-1)}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}}}$$
(1.5.2)

where n = -(N-1), -(N-1)+2, -(N-1)+4, ... (N-1) and x is the normalized position of the peak of the gaussian distribution modeled light source relative to the arbitrary origin selected by the resistor chain reference voltages. It is important to note that this transfer function is independent of source intensity, but is still dependent on the standard deviation of the light source. Fig. 1.5 shows the family of curves resulting from various standard deviation deviations of light sources and peak positions.

Eqn. (1.5.2) is dependent upon the standard deviation of the light source because the entire source distribution can not always be present upon the finite sized sensor array. The circuitry will still correctly determine the position of the centroid, but only of the light that is incident upon it. It cannot take measurements of light it cannot see.



Figure 1.5 - Theoretical centroid position as a function of peak position.

The resulting reduction of output voltage swing with large standard deviation light sources is best described by referring back to the mechanical centroid representation. When larger standard deviation distributions of mass are encountered and the peak of the distribution is moved from one side of the support to the other, the bulk of the mass remains unchanged in position as seen in Fig. 1.6. In the figure, the hatched region represents mass that will always be present for any position of the example distribution. This large, stationary mass swamps the effect of the smaller moving mass on the centroid

11



Figure 1.6 - Unchanging portion of light distributions.

position, and as a result the full scale centroid motion (and hence output voltage) is reduced. The larger the distribution's σ , the smaller the moving mass, and the greater the reduction of full scale swing.

1.6 A Practical Realization

The most important part of the position sensing circuitry is the multiplier used for weighting the photocurrents. Poorly designed or overdriven multipliers will have degrading effects upon the overall circuit performance (see Appendix B).

When a discrete component version of the OPS circuit was built, it was decided that RCA CA3280 linearized operational transconductance amplifiers (LOTA) would be used to perform the task of multiplication [3]. This component is very well suited to multiplication of a differential voltage (which may be bipolar), and a positive current (flowing into the LOTA), with the resultant current being both linear and predictable. The practical circuit, equivalent to the block diagram shown in Fig. 1.3, may be seen in Fig. 1.7. To first order (a full analysis of the CA3280 appears in appendix A), the transfer function of the LOTA (consisting of a non-linear OTA that has been linearized by an input section consisting of the diodes and current mirrors of Fig. 1.8) can be shown to act as a two quadrant multiplier and can then be described by

$$I_{out} = K I_R (V^+ - V^-)$$
(1.6.1)

where

$$K = \frac{1}{2 I_L R} , \qquad (1.6.2)$$

 I_B is the differential pair bias current supplied by the photosensors, I_L is the constant linearizing current, and V⁺,V⁻ and R are as given in the figure. Thus K is the multiplier gain coefficient mentioned in Eqn. (1.3.2) and as long as K is the same for all multipliers,



Figure 1.7 - A practical realization of figure 1.3.

it's value, to first order, is irrelevant. (Appendix B describes how K is relevant during circuit design).



Figure 1.8 - Simplified Linearized Operational Transconductance Amplifier.

1.7 Conclusions

While the basic position sensor has been fully characterized and has been observed to behave in a nearly ideal way [3], it still has some obvious drawbacks. One commonly occurring problem is that while the output signal is, to first order, independent of the light source's intensity, it is still very much dependent upon light source standard deviation. This means that different light sources will stimulate the position sensor to behave in different ways resulting in different output signals for different light sources, which may impair the sensor's use. This thesis describes a method by which this problem may be reduced or, in certain cases completely resolved. A fully commercial part version of the position sensor is also presented. The purpose of this extension to the basic sensor is twofold. Firstly, it reduces the cost of a complete system by removing all custom VLSI integrated components and relies entirely upon readily available commercial parts, and secondly, it increases the designer's control over some non-ideal second order effects such as the loss of output swing due to low light levels by allowing photocurrent integration.

Finally, a circuit designed to use the optical position sensor for astronomical telescope tracking during long duration astrophotography is presented. Such a use provides information on circuit design using the OPS and reveals some of its shortcomings.

Chapter 2

Source Shape Insensitivity

2.1 Cause of Source Shape Variance

The shape of light sources encountered in any position sensing scheme can vary dramatically. In particular, the amount of spreading (or standard deviation if the source is modeled as a gaussian distribution as in chapter 1) of a point light source may vary by orders of magnitude. This "spreading" of the source has been shown to have a very pronounced effect on the output of the centroid sensing circuitry. The dependence of the ideal output signal (Eqn. (1.5.2)) on the standard deviation of the incident light source results in a reduction of the full scale output at higher standard deviations. This does not mean that there is anything wrong with the centroid circuitry itself. In fact, the true centroid position of the incident light, and hence the output signal, will shift less when a very wide light source is moved across the sensor array than it will with a very narrow



Figure 2.1 - Light being lost off the edges of the array.

source due to the edges of the light distribution being lost off the edges of the photoarray as shown in Fig. 2.1.

Analytically, the output signal may be expressed as in section 1.5 where Eqn. (1.5.2) indicates that the normalized output position, V_{out}/V_{REF} , is to first order independent of the light source intensity, I_{pmax} , but remains dependent upon the light source standard deviation. The theoretical light distributions shown in Fig. 2.2 have been used to demonstrate this dependence by plotting Eqn. (1.5.2) with the peak of


Figure 2.2 - Typical light profiles with varying standard deviations.

the distributions being swept from one end of the photoarray to the other. These plots can be seen in Fig. 1.5.

2.2 Solutions

What is generally desired is peak detection, not centroid detection. The centroid of a light source and its peak will only coincide if the distribution is symmetrical about the peak, as with our light model, and all the light from the source is present upon the finite sized OPS, or at least all light down to a negligible amount. In order to achieve this, correction circuitry can be added between the photosensors and the OPS circuit to reduce each current flowing from a photosensor by a certain amount (analogous to removing that large, stationary mass described in section 1.5), and by truncating resulting negative currents, if they arise, to zero. The resulting corrected light distribution while no longer gaussian (really a truncated gaussian as shown in Fig. 2.3) fills the



Figure 2.3 - A truncated gaussian distribution.

requirements for peak detection. The proper amount of current to subtract from each photocurrent can be seen to be at least the larger of the two end of array currents. This correction entails comparing the photocurrents at either end of the sensor array, and subtracting the larger of the two from all photocurrents. Furthermore, because the intensity of the light source doesn't affect the OPS output, subtracting an equivalent correction current from each photocurrent, thereby reducing each photosensor's effective light intensity impacts only the effective standard deviation of the light source and nothing else. However, this technique is not without its drawbacks as will be shown later.

2.3 Theory

With the incident light source profile modeled as a gaussian distribution (Eqn. (1.4.1)), it can be seen that, if the larger of the two photocurrents at either end of the photoarray is removed from all photocurrents, then, as the peak of the light source approaches either end of the array, all photocurrents will be reduced to zero, and the desired peak detection will not result. The array will behave as if in total darkness. For this reason, we will look not only at removing the larger of the two end photocurrents of the array, but will also look at the removal an arbitrary amount of current anywhere between the highest and lowest photocurrents and the removal of the lower of the two end detector photocurrents. As with most things, in theory, removal of either the highest or lowest currents have both merits and drawbacks as will be seen later.

2.3.1 Removal of an Arbitrary Current

The highest end current will always be found at the array edge nearest to the source peak and can therefore always be represented by

$$I_{HE} = I_{pmax} \ e^{-\left(\frac{(0.5 - |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)} \ . \tag{2.3.1}$$

Similarly, the lower of the two end of array photocurrents will always be at end of the array that is farthest from the source peak and can be expressed as

$$I_{LE} = I_{pmax} \ e^{-\left(\frac{(0.5 + |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)} \ . \tag{2.3.2}$$

An arbitrary amount of current between these two values can therefore expressed as

$$\frac{I_{arb}}{I_{pmax}} = I_{LE} + \alpha \left[I_{HE} - I_{LE} \right]$$
(2.3.3)

where α is the coefficient with a range from 0.0 to 1.0 which controls the exact size of I_{arb} . If this current is then subtracted from each photocurrent before entering the OPS the corrected OPS static response can then be shown to be

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - \frac{I_{arb}}{I_{pmax}} \right) \cdot \frac{n}{(N-1)}}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - \frac{I_{arb}}{I_{pmax}} \right)}$$
(2.3.4)

For the case when σ is >> 1, the combination of Eqns. (2.3.3) and (2.3.4) can be

rewritten using a second order Maclaurin series expansion to be

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} \approx \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} \left[\frac{n^2}{4(N-1)^2} - \frac{1}{4} - |x| \left(2\alpha - 1 + \frac{n}{(N-1)} \right) \right]_{(N-1)}^n}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} \left[\frac{N^2}{4(N-1)^2} - \frac{1}{4} - |x| \left(2\alpha - 1 + \frac{n}{(N-1)} \right) \right]}$$
(2.3.5)

which is independent of σ as desired. However, it is important to clip the quantities in brackets to zero should they become negative.

2.3.2 Removal of Higher End Current

If we correct the photocurrents by allowing α to be 1.0 in Eqn. (2.3.3) and removing this current (=I_{HE}) from all others, the static transfer response of the OPS may now be written

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 - |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right) \cdot \frac{n}{(N-1)}}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 - |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right)} \right)$$
(2.3.6)

However, this equation does not reflect the effect of clipping the currents such that there are no negative currents. This clipping physically results in reducing the width of the array so that it excludes photodetectors whose currents are less than the I_{HE} . Since the corrected, effective, light source is centred around the peak, x, only detectors that fall into the range

24

$$(2x - 0.5) \le n/[2(N-1)] \le 0.5 \tag{2.3.7}$$

when $x \ge 0$, and

$$-0.5 \le n/[2(N-1)] \le -(2x - 0.5) \tag{2.3.8}$$

when x < 0 and n increments as in chapter 1, will produce currents greater than or equal to I_{HE} and can thus be used in the centroid calculation. This may be expressed completely for $x \ge 0$ as

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=(4x-1)(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right) \cdot \frac{n}{(N-1)}}{\sum_{n=(4x-1)(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right)}$$
(2.3.9)

where the starting value for n must be rounded up to the next value which fits into the counting scheme described earlier. In this form, Eqn. (2.3.9) gives little feeling for the correction, but by simulation this can be seen to be approximated by the equation

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = x \tag{2.3.10}$$

with the limitation that the set of x may not include the end points -0.5 and 0.5 and N is large. Eqn. (2.3.10) arises from the fact that when the higher end current is subtracted from all currents the resulting distribution is centred about x, resulting in the centroid being defined as the peak, x. When the peak is at the edge of the array however, all currents are reduced to zero, and V_{out}/V_{REF} will subsequently be undefined. Thus, in theory, removing the higher end current from all other currents results in peak detection for all light source peak positions in the array excluding distributions centred over the array endpoints.

However, when the source becomes very wide (ie. large standard deviation), the corrected currents that result will become very small, and variations in the photodetectors will play a larger and larger role, as will any other circuit parameter that is not identical for each current path through the position sensor. For this reason, the removal of the higher end is not necessarily the best solution.

2.3.3 Removal of Lower End Current

If we allow α to become zero in Eqn. (2.3.3) and remove this current from all other photocurrents (=I_{LE}), the static transfer response can now be represented by

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 + |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right) \cdot \frac{n}{(N-1)}}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \left(e^{-\frac{(n/[2(N-1)] - x)^2}{2\sigma^2}} - e^{-\frac{(0.5 + |x|)^2}{2\sigma^2}} \right)}$$
(2.3.11)

where everything is as in Eqn. (2.3.6). However, since the current that is being subtracted from all other currents is now the lowest anywhere in the array, the clipping that resulted in previous discontinuities does not arise. Eqn. (2.3.11) is continuous and differentiable at all points. By using a second order Maclaurin series expansion on the exponential

terms of Eqn. (2.3.11), the output then takes the form

$$\frac{V_{out}}{V_{REF}} = \frac{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} \left[\left(\frac{nx}{(N-1)} + |x| \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(1 - \frac{n^2}{(N-1)^2} \right) \right] \frac{n}{(N-1)}}{\sum_{n=-(N-1)}^{n=(N-1)} \left[\left(\frac{nx}{(N-1)} + |x| \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(1 - \frac{n^2}{(N-1)^2} \right) \right]} \quad . \quad (2.3.12)$$

Fig. 2.4 shows plots of both Eqn. (2.3.11) and Eqn. (2.3.12) for comparison purposes. It can be seen that the expansion is a good estimate of the full response when x/σ is small. Under these conditions, higher order terms in the Maclaurin series become negligible after the third term. In this way, the response is made independent of the standard deviation of the light source over the range in the centre of the array where x/σ is small. For larger standard deviations, this range encompasses the entire array.



Figure 2.4 - Static transfer response when lower end current is removed.

2.4 Practical Realization

A circuit to perform this current subtraction has been previously built using discrete, bipolar components [4]. However, since the final goal of this line of research is to integrate the photodetectors, standard deviation insensitivity circuitry, and other improvements onto one monolithic integrated circuit, a fully integrated CMOS design and layout was performed. This chip was fabricated using Northern Telecom's 1.2 μ m process.

A block diagram of the circuit showing the three basic operational sections capable of handling 14 photocurrent inputs is shown in Fig. 2.5. Each section performs a very simple task. The two input sections, one for either end of array photocurrent, provide the necessary signals to make the comparison of the end of array currents, as well as providing cascode gate voltages to drive slave transistors in each of the fourteen output sections. The switch section uses the comparison information from the input sections to select which end of the array has the higher or lower current (whichever is to be subtracted), and passes the corresponding two control voltages (cascode gate voltages) on to each of the output sections. The current subtraction is performed in the output section, with the resulting current being mirrored to the circuit outputs. Each segment will be discussed in detail.



Figure 2.5 - Block diagram of correction circuitry.

2.4.1 The Input Sections

As stated earlier, the function of the input section is threefold:

- a) to provide input current information in a form suitable for comparison to other, similar, information;
- b) to provide control information for current subtraction; and

c) to mirror the input current so it may be treated along with all other input currents.

A circuit which performs all these tasks is shown in Fig. 2.6. Each end of array input current is first mirrored via two diode connected n-channel enhancement transistors in a cascode formation as shown to create two identical "copies" of the input current. By diode connecting the transistors, and hence maintaining $V_{DS}=V_{GS}$ for both M_{I1} and M_{I2} , it is ensured that, for each input transistor, V_{DS} will always be greater than $V_{GS}-V_T$ and the transistors will remain in saturation. If threshold voltage modulation is ignored for the time being (ie. assuming $V_T=V_{TO}$) and channel length modulation is ignored as well (ie. setting $\lambda=0$), the voltage at the lower transistor's gate (V_{LOWER}) and the voltage of the upper transistor's gate (V_{UPPER}) with respect to ground can be shown to be

$$V_{LOWER} = \sqrt{\frac{2 I_{in} L_2}{\beta W_2}} + V_T$$
 (2.4.1)

and

$$V_{UPPER} = 2 V_{LOWER} = \sqrt{\frac{8 I_{in} L_2}{\beta W_2}} + 2V_T$$
 (2.4.2)

respectively, provided that both transistors have the same width to length ratio W/L. These voltages, while providing the means for mirroring currents within the input section, also act as control voltages to mirror the input current in the output sections of the circuit.

The first internally mirrored current will be passed through a resistor which is connected to the positive power supply. The voltage at the output of this mirror will be



Figure 2.6 - The input section.

linearly related to the input current by the equation

$$V_{RI} = V_{DD} - I_{RI} R_1 {.} {(2.4.3)}$$

These voltages, one for either end of the array (V_{R1} and V_{R14}), may then easily be compared by a comparator to decide which of the two end of array currents is either larger or smaller, depending upon which type of correction is desired and the orientation of the comparator. The resulting comparator output, taken as a digital signal, will control which of the two sets of end of array cascode control voltages are passed on to the output stages via the switch section as an indication of the amount of current to be subtracted from each input current.

The second of the internally mirrored currents will simply be mirrored once again

and supplied to the corresponding end of array output stage. By doing so, we are using the end of array input currents to make comparisons, and create other signals without affecting their final use.

Because the n-channel devices in the input sections are to form current mirrors with transistors in the output sections, their sizing depends upon circuit parameters and design criteria in the output sections. For this reason their sizes will be determined and discussed along with the output sections. The p-channel transistors in the input sections, however, were simply sized so that voltages at the inputs of the p-type mirrors would not interfere with the voltages at the outputs of the n-type mirrors (node 1) by forcing the nchannel devices out of saturation. This constraint results in

$$\frac{L_p}{W_p} \le \beta_p \left(\frac{\frac{V_{DD}}{2} - \frac{V_{TN}}{2} - V_{TP}}{\sqrt{I_{in}^{\max}}} - \sqrt{\frac{L_n}{W_n \beta_n}} \right)^2$$
(2.4.4)

where β_p and β_n are the p and n-channel transconductances, respectively, V_{TP} and V_{TN} are the p and n-channel threshold voltages, respectively, V_{DD} is the upper power supply voltage, W_n/L_n and W_p/L_p are the n and p channel width to length ratios, respectively, and I_{in}^{max} is the maximum expected input current to the input stages.

Input section n-channel devices	40/3
Input section p-channel devices	80/3

Table 2.1 - Input section transistor sizes (W/L in microns).

In this way, the input circuitry provides for each of the three necessary functions by, a) converting the input current to a voltage by passing it through a resistance so that the two end of array currents may be easily compared, b) passing the cascode mirror gate voltages on to the switching section, thus supplying control information to the output stages indicating the amount of current to be subtracted, and c) mirroring the input current in such a way that it can be passed on to the corresponding output stage for later processing.

2.4.2 The Switching Sections

Two of the signals made available by each of the two input stages are used by the switching section. These are the cascode mirror gate voltages as in Eqns. (2.4.1) and (2.4.2), and the comparison voltages V_{R1} and V_{R14} .

For this design, the comparison of voltages V_{R1} and V_{R14} is performed by an external commercial comparator. For the best possible comparison, a low offset voltage operational amplifier should be used. This ensures that the switching of the selection from one end of the array to the other is performed as closely as possible to the centre



Figure 2.7 - The switching section.

of the array when a symmetrical source is applied to the photoarray.

The comparator's output is, as stated earlier, treated as a digital signal to control four on-board transmission gates as shown in Fig. 2.7, to select which of the two sets of cascode gate voltages should be passed on to the output sections. In the schematic shown when the control signal is high (= V_{DD}) the current from Input #14 is selected as the current to be subtracted.

Transmission gates are perhaps the only CMOS analogue circuit elements that can be counted on to perform very nearly ideally. Their performance is independent of most CMOS circuit parameters like threshold voltages and modulation, channel length modulation, and transistor transconductance. Because threshold voltage modulation is not a problem, it is important to connect the substrates for all transmission gate transistors to either the positive or negative supplies for p-type and n-type transistors, respectively. This will ensure that latch-up, the state when a parasitic diode internal to the switching transistors becomes forward biased, is avoided and does not affect circuit operation. In particular, if a p-channel transistor's source and substrate are connected, and the output of the transmission gate remains high due to output capacitances as the input (and the transistor's substrate) falls, the drain substrate pn junction will become forward biased and latch-up occurs. With the n-well substrate connected to the positive supply, this state can never occur.

Because no current is expected to flow through these switches at steady state (very small amounts will flow during switching) they can be made very nearly as small as the technology will allow. These sizes are shown in Table 2.2.

Switching section n-channel device size	3/3
Switching section p-channel device size	3/3

Table 2.2 - Switching section transistor sizes (W/L in microns).

2.4.3 The Output Sections

The heart of the correction circuit is the output section as shown in Fig. 2.8. It is here that the current subtraction is performed, and the resulting corrected currents are mirrored to isolate them from any conditions at the output pins. It is also here where design criteria become most critical in order to perform the best possible subtraction.

Transistors M_{I1} and M_{I2} from the selected input section have gate voltages as described by Eqns. (2.4.1) and (2.4.2) which will be passed through the switching section. These voltages, when applied to the gates of two transistors of similar dimension, will form a cascode mirror and will drive the transistors in the output section to draw the selected input current. There are, however, limitations to this mirroring action. In order for the correct current to be drawn, both of the output stage transistors, M_{O1} and M_{O2} must remain in a saturated state. Fig. 2.9 shows the result of allowing the drain voltage of M_{O1} to drop. A lower limit for this drain voltage (V₁) can be calculated.

Ignoring for the moment the effects of channel length and threshold voltage modulations, for both M_{O1} and M_{O2} to remain saturated, by definition,

$$V_1 \ge V_2 - V_T$$
 (2.4.5)

must apply for M_{O1} and

$$V_4 \ge V_3 - V_T \tag{2.4.6}$$

for M_{O2} . Hence, if both transistors were saturated to begin with, and V_1 were falling, the transition from the saturation to triode region would occur at



Figure 2.8 - The output section.

$$V_1 = V_2 - V_T \tag{2.4.7}$$

for M_{O1} and

$$V_4 = V_3 - V_T \tag{2.4.8}$$

for M_{O2} . Moreover, since we already have equations for voltages $V_2=V_{UPPER}$ and $V_3=V_{LOWER}$ it can be shown that as V_1 drops, M_{O1} will drop out of saturation before M_{O2} and Eqn. (2.4.7) will set a lower limit for V_1 , below which M_{O1} will fall out of saturation and the mirroring action will be compromised.

By again referring to Fig. 2.8, it can be seen that the voltage V_1 will be solely controlled by the current flowing through the diode connected transistor pair M_{O3} and



Figure 2.9 - The effect of cascode mirror output voltage on mirror output current. $(\Delta V=V_{LOWER}-V_{t})$

 M_{O4} . These transistors behave in the same way as M_{I1} and M_{I2} , that is,

$$V_1 = \sqrt{\frac{8 I_o L_3}{W_3 \beta} + 2V_T}$$
(2.4.9)

where I_0 is the result of the current subtraction and flows in M_{O3} and M_{O4} .

Here, however, we are only interested in the lower limit of this voltage which, if subthreshold operation is ignored, can be seen to be $V_1=2V_T$. Ignoring subthreshold operation is a valid assumption because if any current significantly larger than the transistor "saturation" current I_{DO} (of the order of 10⁻¹² amps) is flowing, Eqn. (2.4.9) becomes valid and the size of transistors M_{O1} and M_{O2} can be chosen by using Eqn. (2.4.7) to find that

$$\frac{W_{12}}{L_{12}} \ge \frac{8 I_{in}^{\max}}{V_T^2 \beta}$$
(2.4.10)

where I_{in}^{max} is the maximum photocurrent expected at any input. For this design the maximum input photocurrent was chosen to 30 µA which, along with the provided fabrication parameters, results in approximately

$$\frac{W_{12}}{L_{12}} \ge 11 \quad . \tag{2.4.11}$$

These sizes, as mentioned earlier, have ramifications in the input circuit. For a current mirror to have unity gain, as desired, all transistors, both driving and slave, must be matched in size. This means that all the n-channel transistors in the input sections must also be sized according to Eqn. (2.4.10).

Output section n-channel transistor size	
M _{O1} , M _{O2}	40/3
M _{O3} , M _{O4} , M _{O5} , M _{O6}	20/3
Output section p-channel transistor sizes	40/3

Table 2.3 - Output section transistor sizes (W/L in microns).

When threshold voltage modulation is taken into account, the lower limit on voltage V_1 is raised to

$$V_1 = 2V_{TO} + \gamma(\sqrt{V_{TO} + 2\phi} - \sqrt{2\phi})$$
 (2.4.12)

and the voltage V_{UPPER} is raised to

$$V_{UPPER} = \sqrt{\frac{8 I_{in}^{\max}}{\beta} \frac{L}{W}} + 2V_{TO} + \gamma(\sqrt{V_{LOWER} + 2\phi} - \sqrt{2\phi}) \qquad (2.4.13)$$

where V_{TO} is the unmodulated threshold voltage, γ is the body effect factor, 2ϕ is the process surface inversion potential (typically 0.6 volts), and all other parameters are as outlined previously. These equations result in

$$\frac{W}{L} \ge \frac{8 I_{in}^{\max}}{\beta \left[V_{TO} + \gamma \left(\sqrt{V_{TO} + 2\phi} - \sqrt{2\phi} \right) \right]^2}$$
(2.4.14)

which differs from Eqn. (2.4.10) in that the denominator is slightly larger and accordingly smaller W/L values result. The lower transistors do not suffer from threshold voltage modulation because for these transistors, the source to bulk voltage V_{SB} is always zero.

Actual circuit layouts may be seen in the following Figs. 2.10 through 2.14.



Figure 2.10 - The layout of the input section (1.50 microns/mm).



Figure 2.11 - The layout of the output section (1.50 micron/mm).



Figure 2.12 - The layout of the switching section (0.5 micron/mm).



Figure 2.13 - The full circuit (5 micron/mm).



Figure 2.14 - The complete layout (33.3 micron/mm).

2.5 Testing and Results

All testing was done by using an HP semiconductor parameter analyzer to simulate the input currents. While it would have been possible to set up a light source and use the available photoarrays with many more photodetectors than is achievable with the HP, exact control over the standard deviation of the light source would have been very nearly impossible. With the analyzer on the other hand, exact control of all inputs was easily achieved at the cost of a reduced number of photocurrent inputs. The corrected (and uncorrected) photocurrents, were then passed into a discrete component (linear multiplier) centroid sensor built using CA3280 LOTAs as described earlier, to produce the final output. It was observed that the slew rate of the external comparator had no effect on the transient response of the circuit as output capacitor charging times were much larger.

2.5.1 Functionality

The circuit layout was designed in such a way that most of the important internal signals were accessible for measurement. These signals allow for the determination of any flaws in the layout and design that would affect circuit performance.



Figure 2.15 - Simulated and measured upper cascode gate voltages.

Fig. 2.15 shows the measured data for V_{UPPER} before entering the transmission gates and after, along with the simulated data for the case when input #1 was the control input. The measured values can be seen to be very nearly identical as would be expected

due to the fact that at steady state, no current will be flowing in the transmission gates, and subsequently there can be no voltage drop across them. The simulated data however differs from the measured data by a significant amount. This can be attributed to using transistor parameter values in the simulations that were not the same as the actual values encountered during testing. The parameters used were those made available by the CMC [5] for level 3 spice simulations. These parameters were stated as being "guidelines only" as "there has not been any calibration of the SPICE models with measured results" and as such it must be accepted that simulated data will differ slightly from measured data.

Fig. 2.16 shows the measured data for V_{LOWER} only at the exit of the transmission gates and the corresponding simulated data. The voltage at the input to the transmission gates was unavailable for measuring but by examining the plots for V_{UPPER} and the relation to the simulated data, the input voltage can be assumed to be identical to the output voltage.

Fig. 2.17 exposes the major problem with this design. The simulated data expresses the desired static response. These plots were made using only two of the current inputs. As the current flowing into input #1 (which was controlling) was increased, the simulated data shows that the resulting current at output #1 should remain at zero. This is the expected response as the current should be subtracted from itself. Any other input current (#14 in this instance), if constant, should slope linearly down as larger currents are subtracted, until, when both the controlling current and the constant current are the same, both outputs should be reduced to zero.

In the figure, input #14 was held at 20 μ A, while the controlling input (#1)



Figure 2.16 - Simulated and measured lower cascode gate voltages.

was raised from 0 to 20 μ A. The result shows that, while for the most part the circuit was behaving well, not enough current was being subtracted from either input current. The figure and subsequent tests showed that the amount of leakage or control current lost was of the order of 8% of the control current resulting in

$$I_{o(n)} = I_{in(n)} - G_{IO} I_{in(1)}$$
(2.5.1)

where the actual current gain, G_{IO} , from the input to the subtraction point in the output was found to be 0.92. Through simple calculations, it can be shown that this size of



Figure 2.17 - Simulated and measured data for I_{out1} and I_{out14} as a function of I_{in1} .

current gain error could be accounted for by either mismatches in the value of β or a 5-10 mV threshold voltage mismatch in the transistors of the input section and output sections. The exact current gain if only threshold mismatch is accounted for can be found to be

$$G_{IO} = 1 - \frac{2 \Delta V_T}{(V_{IOWER} - V_T)}$$
(2.5.2)

where ΔV_T is the mismatch in transistor threshold voltages.



Figure 2.18 - Typical variation in $I_{out(n)}$ as a function of I_{in1} .

2.5.2 Removal of Higher End Current

Fig. 2.19 shows the measured effect of removing the higher of the two end currents from light sources of varying standard deviation. While the curves are generally in the correct position and direction (the ideal response is a rising 45° line through the origin), it was immediately obvious that there was a problem. With the light sources and standard deviations tested, the corrected photocurrents were reduced, with the larger standard deviations, into the range of 100-500 nA. At these current levels, small variations in

detector sensitivity, and processing circuitry had significant effect on the output signal. These problems when coupled with the leakage error mentioned above, resulted in unpredictable results.



Figure 2.19 - Measured static response when upper current is removed.

2.5.3 Removal of Lower End Current

Removal of the lower of the two end currents lead to much more predictable results.

Fig. 2.20 shows the output of the uncorrected OPS. These curves have been shown to



Figure 2.20 - Measured uncorrected position sensor static response.

be well within a maximum error of 1% from the theoretical curves. Fig. 2.21 presents the curves after correction by removal of the lower end current. Some advantage is immediately realized by reduction of the dependence of the output signal on the standard deviation of the light source in the region where x/σ is small, however at higher standard deviations, the source insensitivity, while not completely lost, is greatly reduced.

Figs. 2.22 through 2.28 show both the corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical data for each value of σ tested. These verify that the uncorrected circuit



Figure 2.21 - Measured corrected position sensor static response.

output very closely resembles the theory for the uncorrected case, and shows the error in the corrected output.

This error at higher values of σ can be directly attributed to the inaccurate current subtraction mentioned earlier. If this error is taken into account in the simulations, with $G_{IO}=0.92$, then Figs. 2.29 and 2.30 result, clearly indicating that this is the cause of the error.

Correcting the functional error of non-unity mirror current gains is not easily

solved. The ideal solution lies in creating a current mirror with a gain of precisely unity and with the variability of transistor threshold voltages in modern CMOS processes, the designer can never be assured that the transistors will be matched as well as is necessary for this application.



Figure 2.22 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev = 0.25).



Figure 2.23 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev=0.30).



Figure 2.24 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev = 0.40).



Figure 2.25 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev=0.50).



Figure 2.26 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev = 0.75).



Figure 2.27 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev=1.00).



Figure 2.28 - Corrected and uncorrected, measured and theoretical static response (StdDev = 2.00).


Figure 2.29 - Corrected data with theory incorporating 8% current loss (StdDev=1.00)



Figure 2.30 - Corrected data with theory incorporating 8% current loss (StdDev=2.00).

2.6 Conclusions and Future Work

The gain errors in the current mirrors between the input sections and the output sections affect the output certainly, but the concept has been shown to be viable. This error in itself however may be correctable in future designs, in various different ways, one of which is by designing the input sections as shown in Fig. 2.31. The cost of this method is that the two end of array currents would not be available for further processing.

This design still relies upon a certain amount of transistor matching. However, it opens the possibility for at least two different threshold voltage values. Transistors M_{I1} and M_{I2} must be matched to the slave transistors in all the output sections, and the remaining transistors in the input section can have a different value of V_T (but must be matched among themselves). The "tank" section of the new input section, consisting of M_{I3} through M_{I6} and M_{I9} through M_{I12} will adjust itself in such a way that I_T will become zero and therefore the transistors M_{I1} and M_{I2} must be drawing exactly I_{IN} . This is achieved through the following process.

Initially, when the current I_{IN} flows, it will flow in transistors M_{I3} and M_{I4} . This current will be mirrored back to itself and to transistors M_{I1} and M_{I2} both of which have different V_T 's than M_{I3} and M_{I4} . The result is that the n-channel cascode gate voltages will be raised or lowered in such a way that M_{I1} and M_{I2} will be drawing I_{IN} and I_T will become zero. This will ensure that all cascode slave transistors with the same threshold voltage as M_{I1} and M_{I2} will draw precisely I_{IN} when V_{UPPER} and V_{LOWER} are applied to their gates.



Figure 2.31 - Input circuit to solve V_T matching problems.

Another more complex solution lies in using dynamic current mirrors [6]. These mirrors use the same transistor as both the driver and slave during two separate phases of operation as shown in Fig. 2.32, thus removing the differences in threshold voltage and β . Conceptually, operation is very simple. During phase 0, the capacitor is charged such that

$$V_{C} = \sqrt{\frac{2 I_{0} L}{\beta W}} + V_{T}$$
(2.6.1)

and during phase 1 of operation, this same voltage is used to drive the transistor. This elegant solution suffers from other shortcomings including charge injection errors due to the switches, and difficulty in producing constant operation, multiple output current

mirrors, but regardless, this solution warrants some future attention.



Figure 2.32 - A simple dynamic current mirror.

Chapter 3

A Serial Position Sensor

3.1 Reasons

The basic position sensor, both with and without any additional correction circuitry still has limitations. These include the need for one two-quadrant analogue multiplier per photosensor and a custom VLSI photoarray to provide the tightly spaced photosensors necessary for operation. The first limitation puts a significant limit on the number of multipliers and hence photosensors that can be used due to space limitations, while the second may not be monetarily inhibiting for a large company or university, but the combination of the two reduces the circuit's general usefulness and convenience. Readily available commercial parts cost a fraction of the cost of full custom designs in both time and money and have been pre-tested and are compliant with published specifications.

3.2 The EG&G Reticon RA1662N

The keys to circumventing the above limitations lie in new commercial photodiode arrays such as those made by EG&G Reticon [7]. In particular, the RA1662N "Parallel Output Photodiode Area Array" combines several features which allow for reduced centroid sensor circuitry per photodiode, exposure integration which is important at low light levels and is not achievable with the basic centroid circuitry without much additional hardware, and, by its primary function, provides a non-custom, commercially available, tightly spaced, array of photodiodes.

The array itself consists of a 62 by 16 array of photodiodes with 100 micrometer centre spacing (6.2mm by 1.6mm), each connected to a small amount of MOS circuitry as shown in Fig. 3.1, where V_{array} is a negative voltage. Each of the 62 photocells in a column is connected to one of 16 video output lines with each typically terminated in a resistance. Internal circuitry provides all control signals to consecutively sample each photodiode in a column.



Figure 3.1 - Simple cell circuitry in each EG&G Reticon RA1662N photocell.



Figure 3.2 - Internal RA1662N connections.

The MOS circuitry in each cell, as in the figure, provides the ability to both sample a cell and reset it. When the RESET signal is pulled high relative to V_{array} , the RESET transistor begins to conduct, and current will attempt to flow against the reverse biased photodiode, in effect charging the diode junction capacitance to V_{array} . The RESET signal is then brought low again and the voltage across the photodiode is allowed to decay for some period of time due to light exposure and generation-recombination effects. Sometime later, when the SAMPLE signal is pulled high relative to V_{array} , the output transistor is allowed to conduct through the sample transistor. Because the voltage at the gate of the output transistor (across the photodiode) will be inversely proportional to the amount that the diode voltage decayed between the time it was reset and sampled, the output current sunk by the output transistor will also be inversely proportional to the intensity of light incident on the photodiode. This cycle moves down each column of

photodiodes in parallel across all 16 columns, at a speed controlled by an input clock, sampling each photodiode while resetting the previously sampled cell.

Fig. 3.3 shows the typical light response of the photodiodes, which is limited on the long wavelength end by

$$\lambda_{\max} = \frac{h c}{E_{gap}} \tag{3.2.1}$$

where h is Plank's Constant, c is the speed of light, and E_{gap} is the semiconductor's energy band gap. If E_{gap} for silicon is taken to be 1.12 eV, the maximum wavelength that the silicon will convert to charge is 1109 nm. This is well into the infrared band.



Figure 3.3 - Typical spectral response of the RA1662N photodiode array.

Fig. 3.4 shows the typical output voltage curves for varying levels of exposure, but because very little information on the internal circuit parameters is available to the public, these values have not been checked against simulated data and must therefore be accepted as is. It is sufficient to know that in the dark, currents as high as 200 μ A have been observed. The actual size of the output current is dependent upon the size of the output resistor due to non-infinite output resistance effects. Calculations with the given values for V_{ARRAY} and R_L and integration times of 1.6 mS yield light sensitivities of approximately 762nA/ μ W/cm². This is 381.0 times more sensitive than the basic sensor's published sensitivity of 2nA/ μ W/cm².



Figure 3.4 - Typical curves of output voltage versus exposure.

Externally, the operation of this chip is very simple. After sampling all 62 photodiodes in the columns, the output currents are returned to zero during a 2 clock cycle retrace. This period of time is marked by the end of scan (EOS) signal being brought high. The exact timing of these signals can be seen in Fig. 3.5.



Figure 3.5 - Timing of RA1662N End of Scan and Video signals.

There are only two signals which need be supplied to the chip. These are a clock, which specifies the rate at which the pixels are sampled, and a start inhibit (SI) line. By holding SI high, pixel sampling will continue immediately following the retrace in continuous operation. Sampling will not begin after a retrace until the SI line is brought high. These controls allow for a two tiered clocking system. One fast clock will determine the rate at which pixels are scanned, and a slow clock signal applied to the SI pin will determine the integration time. This clock should have a very low duty cycle such that

$$t_{high} < 64 \cdot T_{clk} \tag{3.2.2}$$

where t_{high} is the time that the integration clock applied to SI is high, and T_{clk} is the period of the sample clock. This ensures that SI does not remain high for more than one full video scan so that only one complete scan is made for each period of the SI signal. A complete columnar scan of the photodiodes is then made once every period of the SI signal, with a new pixel sampled every period of the CLK signal as seen in Fig. 3.6.



Figure 3.6 - The timing of a two tiered clocking system for the RA1662N.

For the purposes of this thesis, it is assumed that the serial video output current that is sunk by the RA1662N is made up of two signals such that

$$I_{photo(n)} = I_{max} - I_E(n)$$
 (3.2.3)

where n is the appropriate pixel number, I_{max} is some positive offset current determined by the biasing of the chip and $I_E(n)$ is the current directly proportional to light exposure at pixel n. It is worthwhile noting that this means there is no current sunk if the pixel light exposure makes $I_E(n)=I_{max}$ and I_{max} will be sunk if the chip is operating in darkness.

3.3 Theory

The block diagram of a circuit which can use one of the RA1662N serial video outputs to determine the one dimensional position of the centroid of incident light is shown in Fig. 3.7. This circuit can be broken down into five distinct segments and will be discussed as such. These segments are the input current mirrors, reference voltage generation, multiplication and interpolation, voltage division and output sample/hold.

The two currents emanating from the input mirrors are used to calculate both the numerator and denominator of the centroid equation. The numerator is calculated by multiplying the photocurrent, $I_{o1}(n)$, by a linearly ramping reference voltage, and integrating the resulting current on a capacitor. By the end of one complete scan, the capacitor voltage,



Figure 3.7 - Block diagram of a simple serial position sensor.

$$V_{cl} \propto \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} I_{photo(n)} V_{ref}(n)$$
 (3.3.1)

The denominator equation value is arrived at by just integrating the photocurrent $I_{02}(n)$, which is equal to $I_{01}(n)$ onto a second capacitor, resulting in, at the end of a complete scan,

$$V_{c2} \propto \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} I_{photo(n)}$$
 (3.3.2)

 V_{c1} may then be numerically divided by V_{c2} and sample/held until the next scan to arrive at an indication of the centroid position.

3.4 A Practical Realization

3.4.1 Input Mirrors

The purpose of the input current mirrors really is twofold when the RA1662N is used. The first is to invert the video current and remove the effects of I_{max} in such a way that higher light exposures will result in higher mirror output currents and the second is to produce two identical "copies" of the resulting current.

A circuit which performs both these tasks is shown in Fig. 3.8. The input to the circuit is one of the photoarray's 16 video outputs. When this signal is terminated across a resistor, R_{p1} ,

$$V_p(n) = V_{sat} - R_{pl}(I_{\max} - I_E(n))$$
(3.4.1)

where V_{sat} is a constant voltage and everything is as shown in the figure. If all active devices are assumed to be ideal, and assuming $R_{p1}=R_{p2}=R_{p3}=R_p$,

$$I_{o1}(n) = I_{o2}(n) = I_E(n) + \left[\frac{V_{sat} - V_{correct} - R_p I_{max}}{R_p}\right]$$
(3.4.2)

where an easily adjustable $V_{correct}$ can be supplied by a voltage divider since all circuit inputs at this node will be high impedance. $V_{correct}$ can then be adjusted to remove the second term in Eqn. (3.4.2), resulting in

$$I_{ol}(n) = I_{o2}(n) = I_E(n)$$
 (3.4.3)

However, if this cancellation is not performed correctly, some constant offset current, Ioff,



Figure 3.8 - The serial input mirrors.

....

will also be associated with the mirror output currents. This will have an effect on the centroid calculation, but small values of I_{off} will have little effect as will be seen later.

If nonideal active device parameters are included and resistors are not assumed to be equal, it can be shown that

$$I_{ol}(n) = K_1 I_E(n) + I_{offl}$$
(3.4.4)

where

$$K_1 = \frac{\beta_1 R_{pl}}{(\beta_1 + 1) R_{p2}}$$
(3.4.5)

and

$$I_{off1} = \frac{\beta_1}{(\beta_1 + 1)} \left[\frac{V_{sat} - R_{pl}(I_{max} - I_{Bl}^+) - R_{p2}I_{B2}^-(V_{off1} - V_{off2}) - V_{correct}}{R_{pl}} \right] .$$
(3.4.6)

 $I_{o2}(n)$ may be calculated in a similar way. Again, $V_{correct}$ can be adjusted to cancel the I_{off} terms, but this must be done after the circuit is built for each mirror as a calibration since exact values for the active device errors will not be known.

3.4.2 Reference Voltage Generation

This circuit segment can be seen in Fig. 3.9 and consists of the counter and DAC. $V_{ref}(n)$ must be synchronized with the RA1662N in such a way that when the first pixel video data is being supplied to the input mirrors, the DAC output will be zero, and when the last pixel video data is available, the DAC output should be at V_{REF} . In this way, the DAC will supply a reference voltage to the multiplying OTA that is proportional to the position of the currently sampled pixel. This is analogous in the basic sensor to the voltages down the resistor chain. These voltages will be

$$V_{ref}(n) = \frac{V_{REF} n}{N-1}$$
 (3.4.7)

where N is the total number of pixels in a full output scan.



Figure 3.9 - Serial position sensor output processing circuitry.

3.4.3 Multiplication and Integration

This section is composed of the multiplying LOTA (OTA1) and the summing capacitors C_1 and C_2 . When $I_{o1}(n)$ and $V_{ref}(n)$ are multiplied together via OTA1, and if the OTA is assumed to be an ideal device,

$$I_{o3}(n) = \frac{I_{o1}(n) V_{ref}(n)}{I_{I_{c}}(R_{11}+R_{12})}$$
(3.4.8)

where everything is as shown in the figure.

Under these conditions, if the voltages on the capacitors C_1 and C_2 are preset to zero before the scan, and

$$V_{ref}(n) = \frac{V_{REF} n}{(N-1)}$$
(3.4.9)

then by the end of the scan,

72

$$V_{cI} = \frac{T_{clk} V_{REF}}{I_L C_1 (R_{11} + R_{12})} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \frac{I_{ol}(n) n}{(N-1)}$$
(3.4.10)

and

$$V_{c2} = \frac{T_{clk}}{C_2} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} I_{o2}(n)$$
(3.4.11)

which, by referring back to Eqn. (1.3.3), can be seen to be gained versions of the numerator and denominator of the centroid equation (V_{c1} and V_{c2} respectively).

Non-ideal OTA effects result in very complex equations. However, it has been found that one non-ideality in the OTA dominates all others. A small mismatch in the OTA differential pair resulting in only a 1 mV offset voltage produces a significant gain error when linearization is used. As explained in appendix A, the differential voltage applied to the differential pair can be shown to be

$$V_{12} = V_{TH} \ln \left(\frac{I_L + I_{in}}{I_L - I_{in}} \right)$$
(3.4.12)

where I_L is the LOTA linearizing current, I_{in} is the input current, and V_{TH} is the thermal voltage kT/q. If some small offset voltage V_{off} is added to this already small value, the output current of the LOTA becomes

$$I_{o3}(n) = I_{o1}(n) \tanh\left(\frac{V_{12}+V_{off}}{2V_{TH}}\right)$$
 (3.4.13)

and can be approximated due to the very small values of V_{12} and V_{off} to

$$I_{o3}(n) = I_{o1}(n) \left(\frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}} + \frac{V_{off}}{2V_{TH}} \right)$$
(3.4.14)

in which the second term amounts to a gain error. There is nothing that can be done about this offset, so the design must work around it.

The design of such a multiplier, as with most design problems, involves a trade off between opposing design criteria. Firstly, to void clipping of the multiplier,

$$\frac{V_{REF}}{I_L(R_{11}+R_{12})} \le 1 \tag{3.4.15}$$

so that the output current does not exceed the photocurrent as the design of the CA3280 LOTAs will not allow for this. Secondly,

$$I_L > I_{in} = \frac{V_{REF}}{(R_{11} + R_{12})}$$
 (3.4.16)

to ensure that the voltage across the linearization diodes does not become excessive and negates the assumption that $I_{in}=V_{in}/2R$. The second point effectively destroys the OTA gain, and, since V_{12} is kept small, the differential pair mismatch becomes more important. A good balance of these two points arises when the maximum value for I_{in} is limited to 10% of I_L , where if V_{12} is assumed to be small,

$$I_{in}(n) = \frac{V_{ref}(n)}{(R_{11} + R_{12})} \quad . \tag{3.4.17}$$

For the designed circuit, with $V_{REF}=10$ volts, R_{11} and R_{12} were both chosen to be 500K Ω and I_L set to 100 μ A. The selection of integration capacitors is also subject to various influences. It must be ensured that, as currents are integrated and the capacitor voltage rises, it must never reach a point where the current sources supplying the current fail. For this reason, larger capacitors are necessary at high photocurrent levels. However, these same capacitors must be drained during the retrace time to zero volts across the non-zero resistance (typically about 400 Ω) of the conducting transmission gates. If continuous operation is not being used, and integration time as mentioned earlier is significant, the capacitors will have $T_{SI} - 62 T_{CLK}$ in which to drain across the transmission gates and no problem is likely.

3.4.4 Output Signal Processing

Once a scan is complete, signalled by the counter being at 61, the two integration capacitors C_1 and C_2 will be at voltages proportional to the numerator and denominator of the centroid equation respectively. Several operations involving the analogue transmission gates must now occur. First, integration is stopped by redirecting I_{o2} and I_{o3} to ground, voltages V_{c1} and V_{c2} are divided using a commercial analogue divider and sample/held using a simple transmission gate, capacitor and output follower as shown in Fig. 3.9 and the counter is reset to zero. These three operations can be performed simultaneously. Then the capacitors are discharged by transmission gates connecting them to ground and the cycle can start anew. Figs. 3.10 and 3.11 show the expected effects on the static transfer function of the light source standard deviation and I_{off} .



Figure 3.10 - Effect of light source standard deviation on serial position sensor output.



Figure 3.11 - Effect of large offset currents (I_{off}) as percentage of signal peak.

3.5 Testing and Results

Testing proceeded in two stages. First, the input section was tested to ensure that correct current mirroring was accomplished and then the full circuit with the input section and all glue circuitry was tested on several light sources. These light sources were produced by directing a truncated fibre optic cable at the RA1662N. Figs. 3.12 through 3.14 show the inverted (higher currents at higher exposure) and mirrored photocurrents supplied during complete scans of the RA1662N and their best fit gaussian profiles. Any offset current I_{off1} has been removed in the plots prior to curve fitting so that only direct exposure attributable currents ($I_E(n)$) are shown and fitted.

The three light sources were produced by slightly different means. Source A was the first light source, source B was produced by decreasing the light source's intensity to approximately half that of source A, and source C was produced by increasing the sample clock frequency, f_{clk} , from 14.22 kHz to 40.00 kHz, but maintaining approximately the same peak output current by increasing the light source intensity accordingly.



Figure 3.12 - Intensity profile of light source A.



Figure 3.13 - Intensity profile of light source B.



Figure 3.14 - Intensity profile of light source C.

3.5.1 The Input Section

The input current mirrors were tested by applying a current to the input in a fashion similar to the operation of the RA1662N array and measuring the current at the outputs of the current mirrors by terminating them to ground across a nominal 10K resistance. Using measured values for the resistances and transistor β 's, current gain values of K₁=1.012 and K₂=1.008 were calculated along with worst case offset current errors of I_{off1}=-1.0969 µA and I_{off2}=-1.0934 µA based on worst case active device tolerances.

Fig. 3.15 shows the accuracy of this type of current mirror. The theoretical curve is simply an ideal, straight line with none of the non-idealities mentioned previously incorporated in it. The I_{o1} and I_{o2} curves show the currents measured across the output

terminating resistances as a function of the input current. The differences between theory and measured data are shown in Fig. 3.16 along with straight lines representing the expected error current due to values of K_1 and K_2 that are greater than unity. The vertical shift between theory and measured curves is the effect of I_{off1} and I_{off2} which can be seen to be much less than half of the worst case values calculated using active device tolerances.



Figure 3.15 - Theoretical and measured input section output currents.



Figure 3.16 - Theoretical and measured input mirror error currents.

3.5.2 Multiplication

The LOTA multiplier was tested in circuit by measuring the output current as the RA1662N and $V_{ref}(n)$ made complete scans of the previous three light sources. To achieve a measure of the error in multiplier output current, plots of the measured output current were made along with plots of the theoretical output current if ideal multiplication were assumed. The difference between these two plots, when plotted against the input photocurrent (I_B) reveals a linear relationship indicating the multiplier gain error

$$\Delta I_{\alpha\beta}(n) = I_{R}(n) \cdot \alpha \tag{3.5.1}$$

where $I_B(n)=I_{01}(n)$ and $\alpha=16.44 \times 10^{-3}$. Plots showing that this error current accounts for

the difference between measured data and theoretical data are shown in Figs. 3.19 through 3.20. This gain error is directly attributable to the inherent V_{off} in the LOTA differential pair, as explained earlier and can be accounted for by a value of V_{off} as low as 0.855 mV.

Commercial analogue multipliers were considered and tested in an attempt to remove this multiplier error. However, non-linearities in current-voltage pre and post processing circuits increased circuit complexity and cost, and only marginally better performance, make the use of a commercial analogue multiplier undesirable.



Figure 3.17 - Multiplier output error from source A.



Figure 3.18 - Multiplier output error from source B.



Figure 3.19 - Theoretical and measured multiplier output from source A.



Figure 3.20 - Theoretical and measured multiplier output from source B.

3.5.3 Integration

Fig. 3.21 shows the capacitor voltages V_{c1} and V_{c2} as a function of time normalized to one scan period (and hence normalized to the width of array) when the incident light was bright and uniform across the photoarray. The fact that the light was uniform results in a constant current flowing out of the input section of the circuit. Thus, when this current is directly integrated on a capacitor, the linearly ramping voltage results (V_{c2}). When the constant current is first multiplied by a linearly ramping voltage (resulting in a linearly ramping current) and is then integrated, the second curve results. Fig. 3.22 shows typical integration voltages when the incident light source is a gaussian profile.



Figure 3.21 - Uniform illumination capacitor charging curves.



Figure 3.22 - Capacitor charging curves when illumination is a gaussian source.

3.5.4 Signal Output

Figs. 3.23 through 3.25 show the static response of the serial position sensor when each of the three light sources presented earlier are swept across the photoarray. The theoretical data was calculated using the measured component values and three major circuit non-idealities.

The first non-ideality is the offset current added in the input mirrors and whose effect can be seen in Fig. 3.11. The second non-ideality is the effect of multiplier gain error as described earlier. The effect being a shifting of the output voltage curve upwards. Lastly, leakage off the summation capacitors on the order of 300 nA was included. This current is physically the input bias currents on the analogue multiplier amplifiers and has an effect similar to shifting the output curve towards the origin (left).



Figure 3.23 - Position sensor static response to source A.



Figure 3.24 - Position sensor static response to source B.



Figure 3.25 - Position sensor static response to source C.

3.6 Conclusions

Further improvements to the shape of the output voltage could be achieved by reducing input mirror offset currents (I_{off}), and buffering the integrating capacitor voltages with low input bias current amplifiers. This would leave the multiplier as the dominant source of error. However, since this is simply a gain error in the output, it can easily be adjusted for by adding or subtracting an offset voltage to the divider output (This feature is usually built into commercial analogue dividers).

The circuit presented in this chapter has been shown to behave in a predictable and desirable manner and as such can be used in control systems requiring low cost, high precision optical position sensing. Greater control over optical integration time also makes this circuit desirable for low light level applications.

Chapter 4

A Telescope Tracking Circuit

The basic (non-serial) position sensor as it currently exists is useful for many applications, one of which is automated telescope tracking for long exposure astronomical photographs [8]. Some deep sky exposures are of the order of 10 hours in length in order to record the very low light levels of distant galaxies. During this exposure time, the stars (and entire sky) will rotate about the polar axis due to the Earth's rotation at approximately 15 degrees per hour, and the telescope must follow this movement with a minimum of error. Typically, the maximum allowable tracking error is of the order of 0.5 arcseconds of angle. Over a 10 hour exposure, even very small errors in drive motor speed and variations in atmospheric refraction will result in tracking errors much larger than those acceptable.

In the past, it was required that an astronomer remain at the telescope to make the necessary tracking corrections every few minutes or seconds depending on the accuracy of the drive motor. This could be gruelling over the course of a 10 hour exposure.

Currently, at newer observatory installations, CCD systems are used in a feedback arrangement to make the tracking corrections. However, these systems are bulky and costly. The CCD imager must be cooled by liquid nitrogen to reduce CCD dark currents and allow for imaging of the faint stars for tracking, and large computers are necessary to process the incoming CCD data, all resulting in very expensive systems and putting automated tracking out of the price range of the majority of astronomers, the amateurs.

The basic position sensor, however, can be adapted to this cause with very simple control circuitry and therefore at a cost much lower than that for a CCD imaging system. This makes it desirable to develop a telescope tracking system based on the basic OPS system.

The telescope system available for testing was a Celestron 8 inch Schmidt-Cassegrain reflector. The drive motor for this system controls only the right ascension (RA) coordinates, not the declination coordinates, each being a direction in the sky. RA is the direction the earth rotates, and Declination is perpendicular to this direction. The original intent of the motor was to have it plugged into a wall outlet supplying 120 volt RMS 60 Hz electricity with which the synchronous motors drove the telescope in time with the stellar (sidereal) motion. These synchronous motors draw a total of 70 milliamps RMS and dissipate 8 watts. The tracking system will be designed to accommodate these motors.

The tracking system must be capable of using the output voltage from the OPS to correct the speed of the telescope drive motors. In simple terms, if the telescope is

falling behind the rotation of the sky, the control system must be able to increase the speed of the motor and if the telescope runs ahead of the sky, the motor speed must be reduced.¹ There are other considerations that will be broached as they become apparent. Fig. 4.1 shows the block diagram of a simple feedback control system.



Figure 4.1 - A simple block diagram of a feedback telescope tracking system.
4.1 The Optical System

In order to use the OPS to track, we must first design an optical system to produce two images of the desired starfield. The first image is sent to the camera taking the exposure, and the second must be focused on the OPS array. In order to achieve this, the light cone produced by the main telescope optical system must be passed through a beam splitter, as in Fig. 4.2, or an "off axis" splitter, as in Fig. 4.3, to produce the two focal planes. Each of these methods results in reducing the light flux (watts/cm²) contained in either of the two resulting images. The beam splitter will produce two images of the starfield each with an flux of

$$F_{camera} = \alpha \ F_{photo} \tag{4.5.2}$$

and

$$F_{OPS} = (1 - \alpha) F_{photo} \tag{4.5.3}$$

where F_{camera} is the optical flux incident at the camera, F_{OPS} is the optical flux incident on the OPS, F_{photo} is the total optical flux in the light cone, and α is the beam splitter's transmission coefficient which is assumed to be uniform across the entire optical spectrum. Use of the off-axis splitter results in

$$F_{camera} = \left(1 - \frac{A_{offaxis}}{A_{cone}}\right) F_{photo}$$
(4.5.4)

and



Figure 4.2 - Beam splitter based optical system.

.



Figure 4.3 - Off axis splitter based optical system.

92

$$F_{OPS} = \frac{A_{offaxis}}{A_{cone}} F_{photo}$$
(4.5.5)

where $A_{offaxis}$ is the area of intersection of the off axis mirror and the light cone, A_{cone} is the area of the light cone at the off axis mirror, and everything else is as above.

Another difference between the two splitting methods is the image at the OPS. If the beam splitting method is used, the image at the OPS will be identical to that at the camera with only a difference in brightness. If the off-axis method is used, the OPS image will only be a part of the edge of the camera image and a small piece off the edge of the camera image will be missing.

After producing these two images, they may be treated separately by any further optics to produce various levels of magnification. For the purposes of this thesis, however, the images were left at prime focus. That is, the images formed by the main optical system were used as is with no further magnification or manipulation.

The power of light incident at the focal plane depends upon many factors, the most important of which is the intensity of the star itself. Stellar brightness is measured in a unitless relative quantity "magnitude" in such a way that

$$M_2 - M_1 = -2.5 \log\left(\frac{F_2}{F_1}\right) \tag{4.5.6}$$

where M_1 and M_2 are the astronomical magnitudes of two stars in some bandwidth and F_1 and F_2 are the star's flux values (watts/cm²) in the same bandwidth. The best magnitude to compare everything else to is the solar magnitude or constant as it is well

measured and defined. The sun has a magnitude of -26.4 and a flux of 0.137 watts/cm^2 just outside the Earth's atmosphere. The atmosphere however, acts as a filter to light, passing some frequencies and absorbing others as seen in Fig. 4.4 [9]. Thus less light flux than expected will reach the telescope.



Figure 4.4 - Typical plot of percentage atmospheric transmission.

Physical properties of the telescope itself also affect the amount of light power incident at the focal plane. These include the area of the telescope aperture, the stellar image size, and the reflectance and transmittance of the telescope mirrors and lenses respectively. The area of the telescope's aperture is well known, and the size of the stellar image can be calculated. It will have an angular size limited by the larger of either atmospheric turbulence effects (limiting the angular diameter to approximately $D_{T} \approx 1.0$ arcsec) or internal telescope diffraction effects,

$$D_I \approx \frac{0.252 \ \lambda}{D_T} \tag{4.5.7}$$

where D_I is the angular stellar image size expressed in arcseconds, D_T is the telescope aperture diameter in mm and λ is the light wavelength in nm. The actual stellar image size at the focal plane can then be expressed as

$$A_I \approx \frac{\pi D_I F_{eff}}{412512 \ arcsec} \tag{4.5.8}$$

where A_I is the area of the image, and F_{eff} is the telescope's effective focal length expressed in the same units as A_I [10].

The reflectance and transmittance of the telescope's optics will vary greatly from instrument to instrument and will be largely affected by the materials used to form the optics in the instrument [11]. Typical reflectivities and transmittances may be seen in Fig. 4.5.

A full description of the light flux incident at the stellar image of a reflecting telescope can be written

$$F_{I} \approx F_{A} \cdot \tau_{atm} \cdot \frac{A_{T}}{A_{I}} \cdot \tau_{P} \cdot \tau_{S} \cdot \tau_{I}$$
(4.5.9)

where F_I and F_A are the light fluxes at the image and outside the atmosphere respectively, A_T and A_I are the areas of the telescope aperture and stellar image (from Eqn. (4..5.8)) respectively, τ_{atm} is the spectral atmospheric transmission (approximately 0.7 @ 550 nm), and τ_P , τ_S and τ_I are the spectral transmissions of the primary mirror (approximately 0.8), secondary mirror (approximately 0.8) and focusing lens respectively (approximately 0.9).



Figure 4.5 - Typical telescope percentage reflectances and transmittances.

It is important to note that the τ_x values are in fact spectra which can not be fully represented by any single number. Using these values and assuming the use of an 8 inch diameter, 10 foot effective focal length telescope at 550 nm, the published value for photosensor sensitivity of 2nA/µwatt/cm² and detector size of 84 microns by 90 microns, the following table was produced.

96

Stellar Magnitude	Image Flux	Calculated
		Photocurrent
(Unitless)	(µW/cm ²)	(pA)
0.00	220.00	332.640
1.00	87.65	132.530
2.00	34.89	52.750
3.00	13.89	2.100
4.00	5.530	0.836
5.00	2.200	0.333
6.00	0.877	0.133
7.00	0.349	0.053
8.00	0.139	0.021

Table 4.1 - Stellar magnitude and expected image flux and current values.

,

4.2 Input Amplification and Calibration

With a star field incident upon the OPS array, it will produce some output voltage dependent upon the centroid of the incident light. The many points of light in the starfield can be assumed to be a single object. Thus, if the starfield image were to shift, the OPS output would also shift providing the control circuitry with a means of determining whether the tracking motor is falling behind or getting ahead of the sky and thereby closing the feedback control loop.

At the low light levels involved in stellar images, second order effects within the OPS reduce the full scale output of the OPS greatly. For this reason, and to reduce the



Figure 4.6 - Eyepiece amplification section of the tracking system.

effects of noise pickup problems, the output signal from the OPS must be amplified prior to any further uses. The benefits are twofold; the OPS output signal is buffered, and the noise incurred during signal transmission is reduced. For the circuit designed, the input amplifier gain was made adjustable from 10 to 500 with allowances for lowpass filtering the signal if need be.

The position of the centroid of the starfield may appear anywhere in the array. For tracking purposes, there must be some accommodation for this by permitting the telescope to be positioned, and then "locked on" to the current centroid output position. The control circuitry following the "locking on" or calibration circuitry will always try to maintain the OPS output signal at zero volts. This is considered to be the tracking origin. In order to "lock on" to any output voltage from the OPS, the calibration circuitry must be able to shift the origin of the output signal by either adding or subtracting a constant voltage to the OPS output.

Calibration can be accomplished by sampling/holding the OPS voltage at the press of a button, and then by subtracting this held voltage from the current OPS output. The effect is a shift in the corrected OPS voltage so that the centroid position when the calibration button was pressed becomes the new origin with a corresponding output of zero volts. The sample/held voltage must be maintained for the entire duration that tracking is desired which can be very long periods of time. For this reason, an infinite sample/hold circuit was built and is shown in Fig. 4.7.

Infinite sample/hold operation is straight forward. The output voltage of a counter driven digital to analogue converter (DAC) is first compared to the OPS signal. The



Figure 4.7 - An infinite sample/hold circuit.

resultant comparator output, taken as a digital signal, provides information to the counter as to whether it should count up or down to raise or lower the DAC output voltage. After a maximum period of time determined by

$$\tau = 2^m T_{clk} \tag{4.2.1}$$

where τ is the maximum settling time, m is the number of bits for the counter and DAC's digital connection, and T_{clk} is the period of the counter clock, the voltage at the output of the DAC will be within 1/2 bit resolution to the OPS signal, and counting can stop. This voltage may now be subtracted from the OPS signal to produce a new origin.

In order to control this calibration scheme with a single push button, the button must be connected to a one-shot, the output of which will remain high for a minimum duration of τ . This signal may then be used to gate the clock to the counter.

Through this process, we have generated a bipolar signal (V_{cal}) which can be calibrated with the push of a single button which indicates the relative difference between the current centroid position, and the calibrated centroid position.

4.3 Frequency Control Voltage Production

The image of a star under magnification will always be seen to flicker or move around by a small amount due to atmospheric turbulence between the telescope and the star. This effect is akin to viewing a distant street lamp through rising heat waves on a hot night. For the tracking system to behave properly, it is imperative that the telescope not respond to these rapid position changes, only to the slow tracking errors. For this reason, a damped space circuit was built into the control circuitry.

The typical static response of this type of circuit can be seen in Fig. 4.8. The flattened area at the centre of the distribution reduces the output voltage relative to the input voltage so that changes in input voltage (from the OPS) that do not deviate greatly from the calibrated "locked on" point do not produce large output voltages variations. If, however, the gained and corrected OPS voltage, V_{cal} , deviates from the "locked on" point by a large amount, larger output voltages result. Since this output voltage will be linearly



Figure 4.8 - Dampened space circuit typical static response.

related to the motor frequency, the motor speed response of the tracking system to small variations in OPS image position will be slow.

A block diagram of a system to create the desired response is shown in Fig. 4.9 and consists of two precision rectifiers (both negative and positive), an inverting amplifier, a summing amplifier, and an offset adjust amplifier. The schematic of the complete system is shown in Fig. 4.10.



Figure 4.9 - The block diagram of a dampened response circuit.

Each precision rectifier has two states. In one state, the diodes are conducting and the amplifier behaves as a buffer and in the other state, the diodes are reverse biased and the amplifier behaves as an inverting amplifier. Each rectifier has an additional current input (through R1 and R2 respectively) to shift the input voltage at which the change from one state to the other occurs.

Precision rectifier #1 has a response as shown in Fig. 4.11 if the diodes are matched. The change in states occurs when the sum of currents at the inverting pin of the opamp is zero or when



Figure 4.10 - Schematic of a dampened space circuit.

$$V_{in} = -\frac{R_6}{R_2} V_{ss}$$
(4.3.1)

where V_{in} is the gained and calibrated OPS output and V_{SS} is the lower supply voltage. Below this value, the output voltage is zero. Above it,

$$V_{ol} = -\frac{R_4}{R_6} V_{in} = G_1 V_{in} \quad . \tag{4.3.2}$$

The same type of response holds for precision rectifier #2 and is shown in Fig. 4.12 with the change in states occurring at



Figure 4.11 - Precision rectifier #1's static response.



Figure 4.12 - Precision rectifier #2's static response.

 \sim

$$V_{in} = -\frac{R_5}{R_1} V_{DD}$$
(4.3.3)

where V_{DD} is the upper supply voltage and below this value

$$V_{o2} = -\frac{R_3}{R_5} V_{in} = G_2 V_{in} \quad . \tag{4.3.4}$$

When the two outputs of the precision rectifiers are added along with an inverted V_{in} ,

$$V_{\dot{S}} = -\frac{R_{G2}}{R_{\dot{G}I}} V_{in} = G_3 V_{in}$$
(4.3.5)

by a amplifier of gain G_4 (a negative gain), the resulting static response is as shown in Fig. 4.13.

Finally, an offset voltage determined by R_{10} through R_{13} can be added to the response shown in Fig. 4.13 and the signal can be gained again by a factor G_5 creating the complete control voltage for voltage to frequency conversion. This response has all the characteristics we set out to achieve; by allowing R_1 and R_2 to be adjustable the width of the dampened zone may be controlled, all static transfer slopes have been made controllable through variable resistors, and by adding the offset voltage, the free running speed of the system can be set.



Figure 4.13 - Addition of the precision rectifiers' output and inverted V_{cal} .

4.4 Voltage to Frequency Conversion

Voltage to frequency conversion was performed using the simple 555 timer circuit shown in Fig. 4.15 that had a free running frequency of 120 Hz. This includes a CMOS flip-flop to halve the generated frequency and ensure a square wave, and non-overlapping clock circuitry. For the 555 timer, the output clock will be high during the time

$$T_{high} = (R_1 + R_2)C \ln \left(\frac{V_{DD} - \frac{V_{SS} - V_{in}}{2}}{V_{DD} - V_{in}} \right)$$
(4.4.1)

and low during the time

÷

~)

١,

$$T_{low} = R_2 C \ln(2) \tag{4.4.2}$$

where all parameters are as shown in Fig. 4.15. The resulting frequency, after halving by the flip-flop will be

$$f_{motor} = \frac{1}{2(t_{low} + t_{high})}$$
 (4.4.3)

A plot of Eqn. (4.4.3) can be seen in Fig. 4.14. While this response is not perfectly linear, for this control system it serves its function very well.



Figure 4.14 - Plot of the theoretical voltage to frequency response.

After production of this CMOS level square wave motor driving signal (CLK), it must be inverted to produce CLKNOT so that both may be supplied to the motor driving circuitry. However, since CLK and CLKNOT are meant to modulate high voltage positive and negative DC voltages it is imperative that CLK and CLKNOT are nonoverlapping so that short circuits when both signals are "high" are avoided. To perform this feat, the subcircuit shown in Fig. 4.15 was devised and production of the clocks took the final form shown in Fig. 4.16.



Figure 4.15 - Voltage to frequency convertor.



Figure 4.16 - The resulting motor driving signals CLK and CLKNOT.

4.5 Drive Motor Control

The above generated clock, CLK, along with its non-overlapping inverse, CLKNOT, may now be used in the circuit shown in Fig. 4.17 to modulate both ± 100 and ± 100 VDC signals respectively to drive the telescope motor. The conversion of the CMOS level signals to the high voltage motor signal was performed by the use of high voltage optoisolators as shown in Fig. 4.17. These opto-isolators could not supply the 70 mA necessary to drive the telescope motors, so the resulting signal was used to drive a simple class B amplifier consisting of power transistors Q₁ and Q₂. The signal subsequently supplied to the telescope motor appears in Fig. 4.18.





...



Figure 4.18 - The motor driving voltage signal.

4.6 Testing and Results

All testing was performed in circuit under one of two conditions; where possible, laboratory testing was performed, and field testing was performed on both the 8 inch Celestron telescope that was available and a smaller 130mm Newtonian reflector telescope.

4.6.1 Input Amplification and Calibration

Because of the nature of these circuits, and the extent to which they were designed to be adjustable, little data is available for comparison to theoretical values. However, both circuits were observed to have performed their required tasks.

Input amplification required notch filtering to remove 60 Hz pickup noise. While this does reduce the speed response of the overall circuit, stellar motion is not expected to be rapid and response above 60 Hz is subsequently not a consideration.

The calibration circuitry was observed to "lock on" to OPS output voltages to within 1/2 bit resolution. For the 12 bit DAC used, this error was measured to be of the order of 2 millivolts maximum. Any offset error incurred in the calibration section will simply shift the "locked on" position of the telescope by a small amount. For this reason, after the system is "locked on", a short amount of time must be allowed for the DC offsets in the system to be accounted for and tracking to become consistent.

4.6.2 Dampened Space Circuit

Because this subcircuit was designed to be completely adjustable, the static output voltage can take on one of many different shapes responses. However, theory and measured responses for a fixed set of component values may be seen in Fig. 4.19.



Figure 4.19 - Theoretical and measured static response of the dampened space circuit.

4.6.3 Voltage to Frequency Conversion

Fig. 4.20 shows both the measured and the theoretical voltage to frequency conversion.

The CLK and CLKNOT signals were observed to be square waves and non-overlapping as specified.



Figure 4.20 - Measured and theoretical voltage to frequency conversion.

4.6.4 Overall Functionality

Again, because of the nature of this circuit, quantitative results are difficult to produce. The entire tracking system has been found to work well under ideal laboratory conditions and high light levels. However, in field testing, noise pickup problems became apparent. The trouble arises from the second order effect of low light levels on OPS output voltage full scale swing. At the light levels encountered when stellar images or even lunar images are used for tracking, the output swing of the OPS is small enough that the signal is almost entirely lost in RF and 60 Hz pickup noise. This reduction of output voltage swing has been observed in other similar applications of the OPS and has been assumed to be due to photocurrents dropping into the range of the phototransistor dark currents and thus being swamped. While the low pass filtering at the eyepiece of the telescope did improve the situation, noise from either the power supplies (which are suspect) or some other source continued to leak into the tracking signal and tracking became impossible.

4.7 Conclusions and Future Work

While telescope tracking was not possible with the current generation of OPS arrays, the control system retains its validity. The requirement is for OPS arrays which do not suffer from the second order full scale swing problems. Work on just such an OPS has been pioneered by S. Balasubramanian [4] but the devices are not yet available as more research in this direction has yet to be performed.

Bibliography

- [1] Intel 16-Bit Embedded Controller Handbook, Intel Corporation Data Book, 1988.
- [2] "CCD P8600: 385 X 576 Element Area Image Sensor" of <u>CCD Imaging</u>, English-Electric Technical Note 1.
- [3] Gonnason W.R., M.Sc. Thesis, <u>An Analog Optical Position Sensor</u>, 1989.
- [4] Balasubramanian S., M.Sc. Thesis, <u>Optical Position Sensor for Star Tracking</u>, 1991.
- [5] Brown D., Scott A., <u>Design Rules and Process Parameters for the Northern</u> <u>Telecom CMOS4S Process</u>, CMC, 1990.
- [6] Toumazou C., Lidgey F.J., Haigh D.G., eds. <u>Analogue IC Design: The Current-mode Approach</u>, Peter Peregrinus Ltd, 1990.
- [7] Image Sensing Products 1989, EG&G Reticon Data Book, 1989.
- [8] Condon R.J., et al, "An Auto Guiding System for Mid-Sized Telescopes", <u>Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering</u>, September 1990.
- [9] Eccles M.J., Sim M.E., Tritton K.P., <u>Low Light Level Detectors in Astronomy</u>, Cambridge University Press, 1983.
- [10] Covington M.A., <u>Astrophotography for the Amateur</u>, Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [11] Barlow B.V., <u>The Astronomical Telescope</u>, Wykeham Publications Ltd., London, 1975.
- [12] <u>Harris Integrated Circuits for Linear Applications</u>, RCA Corporation Data Book, 1986.

- [13] Haslett J.W., Williamson I.C., Trofimenkoff F.N., "Electrical Characteristics of Linearized Operational Transconductance Amplifiers", 1992.
- [14] Grey, P.R., and Meyer, R.G., <u>Analysis and Design of Analog Integrated Circuits</u>,2nd Edition, Wiley and Sons, 1984.
- [15] Sze, S.M., <u>Physics of Semiconductor devices</u>, Wiley and Sons, 1969.
- [16] Williamson I.C., Balasubramanian S., Haslett J.W., Trofimenkoff F.N., "Source Insensitive Optical Position Sensor", 1992.

Appendices

Appendix A - The CA3280 Linearized OTA

Throughout this thesis, there has been a need for simple, gain controllable multipliers. The Harris CA3280 linearized transconductance amplifier (LOTA) [12] has served well as this crucial building block. However, to fully understand the operation of presented circuits, a full characterization will be presented here [13].

A.1 The Basic Circuit

A simplified schematic of the CA3280 is shown in Fig. A.1, along with external linearization resistors. Two internal linearization diodes are connected across the OTA differential pair as shown in the figure. These diodes are biased into forward conduction via internal current mirrors. Normally, the input resistances R_1 and R_2 are equal (of value R) and sized such that the dynamic impedance of the linearization diodes is negligible. The resulting transfer equation of the circuit is

$$I_{out} = \frac{I_B V_{in}}{2 I_I R} \tag{A.1}$$

where I_L is the diode biasing current, and I_B is the differential pair biasing current. To first order, this equation is seen to be wholly independent of parameters of the LOTA's active devices. However, to obtain the higher order errors inherent in the LOTA, a full derivation of the transfer function is necessary.



Figure A.1 - A Simplified Linearized OTA

A.2 The linearization Process

When voltage V_{in} is applied to the input nodes of the circuit in Fig. A.1, the voltage appearing across the linearization diodes can readily be shown to be

$$V_{12} = V_{TH} \ln \left(\frac{I_L + I_{in}}{I_L - I_{in}} \right)$$
(A.2)

where V_{TH} is the thermal voltage kT/q. The transfer function from the bases of the differential pair to the output has been shown to be [14]

121

$$I_{out} = I_B \tanh\left(\frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}}\right)$$
(A.3)

or,

$$I_{out} = I_B \begin{pmatrix} \frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}} & -\frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}} \\ \frac{V_{12}}{e^{\frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}}} + e^{-\frac{V_{12}}{2V_{TH}}} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.4)

When Eqn. (A.2) is substituted into the above equation, the very simple transfer function characteristic

$$I_{out} = \frac{I_B I_{in}}{I_L}$$
(A.5)

results, where

$$I_{in} = \frac{V_{in} - V_{12}}{2 R} \quad . \tag{A.6}$$

For the case when $V_{in} \gg V_{12}$, V_{12} can be taken to be zero, Eqn. (A.5) will reduce to Eqn. (A.1) and the device will behave in a near ideal manner. However, V_{12} is often not negligible and must be taken into account. This occurs when either the input resistances are small, resulting in values for I_{in} which approach I_L , or small values of I_L are used. Both these cases arise when a high gain is desired. Fig. A.2 shows the measured values of V_{12} along with a plot of Eqn. (A.2). It can be seen that the



Figure A.2 - Typical Differential Input Voltage

magnitude of V_{12} is large even at relatively small values of I_{in}/I_L and far outstrips the inherent V_{off} of a typical bipolar differential pair due to device mismatches.

A second important source of active device error arose while taking measurements for the above. The current mirrors supplying the linearization diodes are implemented in bipolar technology with the sources for I_L being based on PNP transistors, and the source for $2I_L$ being NPN transistor based. As I_L increases, the gain of the PNP transistors decreases as a result of Webster's effect [15]. This effect arises when minority carriers at the base-emitter junction of a bipolar transistor approach the semiconductor doping levels causing the emitter efficiency to be decreased, and, since the mobility of holes (μ_p) is typically 1/3 of electron mobility (μ_n) , the emitter efficiency of PNP type devices is reduced by a greater amount. With transistor gain expressed as

$$\beta_o = \frac{\alpha_o}{1 - \alpha_o} \quad , \tag{A.7}$$

where α_0 is the transistor's emitter efficiency and β_0 is the transistor's forward DC gain, very small changes in emitter efficiency will thus greatly affect transistor gain.

The result is that the current mirrors based on PNP transistors will supply less current to the anodes of the linearization diodes than is being drawn off by the NPN based mirror. The remaining current is drawn in through the two linearization resistors in an approximately balanced fashion. This has the net effect of causing the common mode voltage of the differential pair to move towards the negative supply rail as I_L is increased. These error currents (I_3 and I_4 if Fig. A.4) have been seen to be quite substantial even at small values of I_L .

An empirical fit to measured data was performed with the equation

$$I_{3,4} \approx Constant \cdot 10^{-4} \cdot I_L^2 \tag{A.8}$$

where both I_L and $I_{3,4}$ are in microamps. This equation, along with the measured data can be seen in Fig. A.3. It should be well noted, however, that *Constant* can and does vary greatly from one chip to another.



Figure A.3 - Typical DC Input Currents as a Function of I_I

A.3 A Non-Ideal Equivalent Circuit

Fig. A.4 shows a non-ideal equivalent circuit that may be used for complete analysis of circuits containing LOTAs. It incorporates all the standard OTA errors such as differential pair offset voltage, V_{off} , and input bias currents, I_1 and I_2 , as well as the LOTA specific errors mentioned above.





Figure A.4 - A Full Non-ideal LOTA Model Incorporating an Ideal CA3280.

Appendix B - Effects of Overdriven LOTA Multipliers

The importance of designing the OPS differential voltage/current multipliers properly is significant whether or not a linearized OTA is used. The main limiting factor is that the output current may not exceed the input bias current I_B because the internal differential pair simply acts as a current director, nothing more. This means that if an LOTA is used (bipolar), the gain parameter $K(V^+-V^-)$ may not exceed unity in the equation

$$I_{out} = K (V^+ - V^-) I_B$$
(A.1)

where

$$K = \frac{1}{I_L (R_1 + R_2)}$$
(A.2)

or if a non-linearized MOS OTA is used,

$$\left| (V^{+} - V^{-}) \right| \leq \sqrt{\frac{2 I_B L_D}{\beta W_D}}$$
(A.3)

where I_B is the differential pair bias current, β and W_D/L_D are the MOS differential pair transistor transconductances (A/V²) and width to length ratios [14]. The absolute maximum value that (V⁺-V⁻) can reach (while maintaining proper output operation) is (V⁺_{REF}-V⁻_{REF}) which when bipolar reference voltages are supplied is simply 2V_{REF}.

If these conditions are not met, then the multipliers will saturate and will simply pass the bias current (or inverted bias current) on to the output and thereby effectively reducing the width of the sensor array (number of sensors) to an amount based on the
light source's standard deviation. Fig. B.1 shows the simulated expected non-clipped LOTA multiplier output and the clipped output along with the input photocurrent. The regions where the clipped current and the input photocurrent coincide are the regions where failure occurs.

Fig. B.2 shows the typical effects that this overdriving has on the OPS output of an LOTA based system. The regions where the output is increasing rapidly are the regions where a multiplier is behaving properly. The plateau regions are where all multipliers are saturated.



Figure B.1 - Saturating LOTA multiplier expected and actual current output.



Figure B.2 - Effect of $K(V^+-V^-)=4$ on LOTA based OPS output.